

Molecular Characterization of Plant Defense Responses to *Erwinia carotovora*

Marcos Montesano

Division of Genetics, Department of Biosciences Faculty of Science University of Helsinki

Academic Dissertation

To be presented for public criticism, with permission of the Faculty of Science, University of Helsinki, in the auditorium 2041, Viikki Biocenter, Viikinkaari 5, Helsinki, on November 1st, 2002 at 12 o'clock noon

Supervisor:	Professor Tapio Palva
	Department of Biosciences, Division of genetics
	University of Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers: Professor Teemu Teeri Department of Applied Biology University of Helsinki, Finland

> Professor Martin Romantschuk Department of Ecological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki, Finland

Opponent: Professor Thorsten Nürnberger Department of Stress and Developmental Biology Institute of Plant Biochemistry Halle/Salle, Germany

ISSN 1239-9469 ISBN 952-10-0323-5 ISBN 952-10-0324-3 (PDF)

Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2002

Cover figure: "THE DEPARTURE", a picture from the *Illustrated London News*, July 6, 1850; compiled by Steve Taylor in *Views of the Famine*. Reproduced with kind permission from the compiler's author.

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
ABSTRACT	9
INTRODUCTION	10
Perception of the pathogen	11
Gene-for-gene interactions	11
General elicitors	12
Receptors	12
Plant defense responses	15
Early events of plant defense	15
Local and systemic defense responses	16
The wound response	16
Reactive oxygen species	17
Defense signals	18
Salicylic acid	18
Jamonates and C-6 volatiles	20
Ethvlene	21
Cross-talk between signal pathways	23
Pathogenesis-related proteins	23
Phytoalexins	. 24
Phenylpropanoids	. 24
Model of study	25
The phytopathogen <i>Erwinia carotovora</i> subsp. <i>carotovora</i>	25
The plant hosts	26
AIMS OF THE STUDY	28
MATERIALS AND METHODS	29
Biological material	29
Methods	. 29
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	30
Plant cell wall degrading enzymes from Erwinia carotovora	
synergistically induce SA-independent plant defense responses (I)	30
The role PCDWEs as elicitors of plant defense	. 30
PCDWE-induced resistance is SA-independent	31
Identification, isolation and characterization of potato target genes	. 33
Novel potato receptor-like protein kinases induced	
by E.c. carotovora (II)	33
Isolation and sequence analysis of PRKs	. 33

PRK-3 may be generated by alternative splicing	34
	33
A novel potato defense-related alcohol dehydrogenase	
induced by Erwinia carotovora (III)	36
Identification, isolation and characterization of <i>drd-1</i>	36
Biochemical characterization of DRD-1	36
Downregulation of photosystem I by Erwinia carotovora	
derived elicitors correlates with H_2O_2 accumulation in chloroplasts	
of potato plants (IV)	40
Isolation and characterization of <i>psaD</i>	. 40
Functional characterization of photosystem I	40
Downregulation of photosystem I correlates	10
with hydrogen peroxide accumulation	41
Transgenic plants producing N-oxoacyl-homoserine lactone	
exhibit enhanced resistance to <i>E c. carotovora</i> (V)	43
Generation of transgenic plants producing	15
N-oxoacyl-homoserine lactone	43
Enhanced resistance to F_c carotovora in	ד
OHL-producing plants	11
OTIL-producing plants	44
CONCLUDING REMARKS	46
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	48
REFERENCES	50

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This thesis is based on the following original articles, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Vidal S, Eriksson ARB, Montesano M, Denecke J, Palva ET. (1998) Cell walldegrading enzymes from *Erwinia carotovora* cooperate in the salicylic acidindependent induction of a plant defense response. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 11:23-32
- II. Montesano M, Kõiv V, Mäe A, Palva ET. (2001) Novel receptor-like protein kinases induced by *Erwinia carotovora* and short oligogalacturonides. Mol. Plant Pathol. 2:339-346
- III. Montesano M, Hyytiäinen H, Wettstein R, Palva ET. (2002) A novel potato defense-related alcohol:NADP⁺ oxidoreductase induced in response to *Erwinia carotovora*. Plant Mol. Biol. (in press)
- IV. Montesano M, Scheller HV, Wettstein R, Palva ET. Downregulation of photosystem I by *Erwinia carotovora* derived elicitors correlates with H₂O₂ accumulation in chloroplasts of potato. (manuscript)
- V. Mäe A, Montesano M, Kõiv V, Palva ET. (2001) Transgenic plants producing the bacterial pheromone *N*-acyl-homoserine lactone exhibit enhanced resistance to the bacterial phytopathogen *Erwinia carotovora*. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 14:1035-1042

The articles I, II, III, and V are reproduced with kind permission from the corresponding copyright owner.

ABBREVIATIONS

avr	avirulence gene
bp	base pair
cDNA	complementary DNA
CF	cell-free culture filtrates containing the PCWDEs secreted by <i>E.c. carotovora</i>
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
GUS	glucoronidase
HPL	hydroperoxide lyase
HR	hypersensitive response
INA	2,6-dichloroisonicotinic acid
ISR	induced systemic resistance
JA	jasmonic acid
LOX	lipoxygenase
LRR	leucine rich repeats
MeJA	methyl jasmonate
mRNA	messenger RNA
NADP(H)	nicotine adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced form)
OGAs	oligogalacturonides
OHL	<i>N</i> -oxoacyl-homoserine lactone
PAL	phenylalanine ammonia-lyase
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PCWDEs	plant cell wall-degrading enzymes
PR	pathogenesis-related
PSI	photosystem I
R	resistance gene
RLKs	receptor-like protein kinases
RNA	ribonucleic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase- polymerase chain reaction
SA	salicylic acid
SAR	systemic acquired resistance
TMV	tobacco mosaic virus

ABSTRACT

The present thesis is concerned with plant defense responses to the bacterial phytopathogen *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*, an etiological agent of bacterial soft-rot that affect a wide range of plants including several economically important crops. The aim of this work was to identify and characterize molecular components of plant defense responses induced by *E.c. carotovora* in potato and tobacco, and engineer plants with enhanced resistance to this pathogen.

The production and secretion of plant cell wall-degrading enzymes (PCWDEs) is central to the virulence of *E.c. carotovora*, and these PCWDEs were used as elicitors of potato and tobacco defense responses. The role of individual enzymes as well as combinations of different PCWDEs as elicitors of plant defenses was characterized in tobacco. This characterization indicated that the PCWDEs synergistically induce plant defense responses and systemic resistance. Furthermore, this PCWDE-induced systemic resistance is salicylic acid-independent.

Identification of potato genes responsive to PCWDEs from *E.c. carotovora* led to the isolation of several defense related genes including:

i) Four genes encoding novel receptor-like protein kinases (*prk*-1-4). These genes most likely constitute a family encoding related receptors. Characterization of these genes indicated that they are not only responsive to PCWDEs but also to short oligogalacturonides and wounding, suggesting that these receptors may be involved in perception of the damage produced by *E.c. carotovora*.

ii) A gene encoding a novel alcohol:NADP⁺ oxidoreductase (drd-1). Biochemical characterization of DRD-1 indicated that this enzyme exhibits a preference for several aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes. The defense-related induction of DRD-1, the kinetics of the enzyme and the chemical structure of DRD-1 substrates and products suggest that this enzyme may play a role in plant defense signaling.

iii) *psaD*, a nuclear gene encoding the PSI-D subunit of photosystem I (PSI). Functional characterization of PSI complex indicated that the electron transport activity of PSI is altered in plants treated with PCWDEs from *E.c. carotovora*. This alteration of PSI is preceded by the downregulation of *psaD* transcripts induced by PCWDEs and correlates with an accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in chloroplasts of potato plants, suggesting that the downregulation of *psaD* leads to accumulation of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts.

In order to generate plants resistant to *E.c. carotovora*, we produced transgenic tobacco overproducing N-oxoacyl-homoserine lactone (OHL), a signal that is essential for the quorum sensing that controls the production of PCWDEs in these bacteria. Plants overproducing OHL exhibited enhanced resistance to *E.c. carotovora* suggesting that plant-engineering strategies targeting the modulation of microbial signaling systems may be useful for agricultural applications.

INTRODUCTION

Plants are primary producers and they are able to convert the energy of sunlight into chemical energy such as carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids. These characteristics are extremely important because, directly or indirectly, they provide most of the energy necessary for other organisms to live. Archaeological evidence indicates that around 10,000 years ago humans started to practice agriculture, and since then, and probably before, plant diseases started to be a human concern. Diseased plants may be toxic for humans and animals, and they reduce food quality and production. A good example of how a plant disease can affect human life is given by the potato late blight epidemic in Europe in 1845-6 that importantly affected the Irish people. At the present, approximately 25% of crops are lost worldwide due to general diseases and insects (Agrios, 1997). Tens of thousands of diseases affect cultivated plants. On average, each kind of crop plant can be affected by hundred or more plant diseases (Agrios, 1997). Until now, the control of plant diseases has been dependent on pesticide application. The application of these toxic compounds is harmful for the environment. The ecological and economical cost that the application of these compounds has in short and longterm periods are difficult to estimate. Therefore, other environmentally less harmful approaches for controlling plant diseases and improving food quality and production are needed. At this moment, conventional breeding and genetic engineering for disease resistance seem to be good strategies for approaching these problems. As a part of developing better strategies for controlling plant diseases, a good understanding of the plant-pathogen interactions at the molecular level is needed.

Plants have been exposed to adverse environmental conditions, including biotic stresses, since their origins. Biotic stresses include fungi, bacteria, and viruses, which use different types of molecular mechanisms as virulence strategies to infect plants and eventually cause diseases. Because of these stresses, plants induce defense responses to protect themselves from the infecting microbes. Therefore, plant defense and microbe virulence strategies have a long history of constant coevolution.

Plant defense to pathogens results from a complex combination of structural plant characteristics and induced biochemical reactions. The structural characteristics, including the cuticle and the cell wall, constitute a preformed plant defense that acts as a physical barrier to prevent the entrance and spreading of pathogens throughout the plant. In addition to this constitutive defense, plants may perceive directly or indirectly the presence of a pathogen and subsequently induce plant defense responses. These inducible plant defense responses include the synthesis of signals such as salicylic acid, ethylene and jasmonates that regulate gene expression, and the production of defense molecules such as reactive oxygen species, phenylpropanoids, phytoalexins and pathogenesis-related proteins. All these inducible biochemical reactions tend to create protective physiological conditions to limit pathogen growth and invasion in the host tissues. The final result of the host-pathogen interaction, plant disease (compatibility), or plant resistance (incompatibility), depends on the combination of a number of different variables. These variables include the genetic characteristics and physiological state of both the plant and the pathogen, and several environmental conditions including light, temperature, and humidity, among others.

Perception of the pathogen

To infect a plant, pathogens must be able to evade or overcome the constitutive plant defense formed by physical barriers such as for example the cuticle and the cell wall. Different pathogens use different strategies to face this constitutive plant defense and gain entrance into plant tissues. Some of the pathogens are specific for one plant variety while others affect a wide range of plants. Irrespective of the type of pathogen, plants might be able to perceive its presence and trigger a defense response. Plants achieve the perception of a pathogen through molecules of a diverse nature called elicitors, which originate from the pathogen or from the plant, and are able to trigger plant defense responses. In some cases, the recognition of the pathogen by the plant is cultivar specific, as in the gene-for-gene type of interactions, while in other cases the plant nonspecifically recognizes the presence of the pathogen by general elicitors.

Gene-for-gene interactions

The gene-for-gene type of plant-pathogen interactions involve the specific plant recognition of a protein encoded by a dominant avirulence gene (avr) from the pathogen, via a complementary interacting protein encoded by a dominant plant resistance gene (R) (Flor, 1971; Keen, 1990; Staskawicz et al., 1995). When one of the avr or the complementary R genes is not expressed, plant recognition does not occur, the plant-pathogen interaction is compatible and disease may be the result. When both interacting members, Avr and the complementary R proteins, are present, recognition occurs resulting in an incompatible interaction where plant resistance is the result. The hypersensitive response (HR) is a typical plant defense response associated with resistance in these incompatible plant-pathogen interaction, which is thought to restrain pathogen growth and spreading (Hammond-Kosack and Jones, 1996).

Several plant *R* genes and the corresponding *avr* genes from the pathogen have been identified from many plant-pathogen interactions. Based on the structural domains that different R protein sequences exhibit, they have been classified into different groups. Most of the R genes encode proteins containing leucine rich repeats (LRR) that are thought to mediate protein-protein interactions (Bent, 1996; Ellis et al., 2000; Takken and Joosten, 2000). In addition to the LRR regions, some R proteins contain nucleotide-binding sites (NBS) and they are classified as NBS-LRR. The NBS-LRR proteins are further subdivided according to the characteristics of their amino-terminal sequences, featuring either a coiled coil (CC) or a Toll-Interleukin receptor (TIR) homology domain (Bent 1996, Takken and Joosten, 2000). Furthermore, some R genes contain kinase domains and some of these, as for example Xa21, are transmembrane receptor kinases (Song et al., 1995).

In contrast to the R proteins, most of the Avr proteins show little or no homology to each other (Nimchuck 2001, Bonas, 2002). However, some regions such as myristoylation encoding sites are present in several Avr sequences and they may be required for the proper localization and function of the Avr protein (Nimchuk et al., 2000; Shan et al., 2000). There is evidence that Avr proteins play a role in pathogen virulence on susceptible hosts (Kjemtrup et al., 2000; White et al., 2000; Laugé and De Wit, 1998). For example, AvrPto enhances the

capacity of *P. syringae* pv. *tomato* to induce necrosis in tomato plants lacking the R gene Pto, an such a necrosis is correlated with an increase in bacterial growth (Chang et al., 2000).

The simplest model for gene-for-gene interaction is where R proteins are receptors and Avr proteins are ligands. However, in some cases there is evidence that R proteins are not the primary receptor for the corresponding Avr protein. For example, the Ry-mediated resistance response in potato requires the intact active site of the protease elicitor NIa from potato virus Y (Mestre et al., 2000). Therefore, in this case the R protein may mediate the recognition of the product released by the Avr protein. Based on recent biochemical data, different models for R-Avr interactions have been hypothesized (Bonas and Lahaye, 2002; Dangl and Jones, 2001).

General elicitors

In addition to the specific pathogen-derived Avr elicitors, other types of general elicitors are generated during plant-pathogen interactions. These elicitors are called general because they occur in a number of different plant-pathogen interactions. These general elicitors are molecules of a diverse nature including oligosaccharides, lipopolysacharides, glycopeptides and peptides, derived either from the plant or the pathogen. All these general elicitors are somehow perceived by the plant cells and trigger several plant defense responses (Ebel and Cossio, 1994; Benhamou, 1996; Dow et al., 2000).

Oligosaccharide elicitors were among the earliest elicitors characterized in detail (Darvill and Albersheim, 1984). These general elicitors are able to trigger several plant defense responses including oxidative burst (Apostol et al., 1989), induction of defense signal molecules such as jasmonic acid (JA) (Doares et al., 1995a) and ethylene, accumulation of phytoalexins, and induction of pathogenesis-related genes (Darvill 1992). Oligosaccharides, may originate from pathogen or plant structures. For example, hepta-*B*-glucoside, oligochitin, and oligochitosan derive from pathogens while oligogalacturonides derive from plants (Ebel, 1998). Plant oligogalacturonides (OGAs) may be released by the action of cell wall degrading enzymes derived from the invading pathogen, which may generate OGAs with different degrees of polymerization. The size range of OGAs that activates plant defense responses is narrow. For example, OGAs with a degree of polymerization between 10 and 15 are generally required to elicit most of the plant defense responses mentioned above (Darvill, 1992). However, OGAs with a degree of polymerization as short as 2 are also able to trigger induction of plant defense-related genes such as proteinase inhibitor and allene oxide synthase (Bishop et al, 1984; Norman et al., 1999). The perception of OGAs and other general elicitors most probably involve direct or indirect participation of membrane receptors (Hahn, 1996).

Receptors

Plant cell-surface receptors are key components that perceive extracellular stimuli from the environment. They are vital for an appropriate physiological role of the cells as functional units of the tissues and the whole organism. During the last decade, several types of receptors have been identified in plants. According to their structural characteristics, they have been classified into different categories including receptor-like protein kinases (RLKs), hisitidine kinase receptors, and receptors with different numbers of transmembrane domains (Satterlee and Sussman, 1998; Walker, 1994; Grignon, 1999).

Of special interest are the RLKs, which represent almost 2% of the *Arabidopsis* genome (The *Arabidopsis* Genome Initiative, 2000). RLKs are characterized by an extracellular domain probably involved in signal perception, a transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic kinase domain, which may initiate a signal transduction cascade into the cell. All plant RLKs identified are serine-threonine kinases and based on the structural characteristics of the extracellular domain they have been divided into different categories (Fig. 1) (Shiu and Bleecker, 2001; Satterlee and Sussman 1998, Walker, 1994).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of receptor-like protein kinases (RLKs) identified in plants. These receptors are expected to be located at the plasma membrane (PM) and their extracellular domains exhibit similarity to diverse sequence motifs. A, Xa21 from rice contains leucine-rich repeats (LRR) (Song et al., 1995). B, *Ath*LecRK1 from *Arabidopsis* contains lectin-like motifs (Hervé et al., 1996). C, PR5K from *Arabidopsis* exhibits similarity to the PR protein thaumatin (Wang et al., 1996). D, CHRK1 from tobacco shows similarity to the PR protein chitinase (Kim et al., 2000). E, CRINKLY4 from maize display similarity to the ligand-binding domain of the mammalian tumor necrosis factor receptors (TNFR) (Becraft et al., 1996). F, WAK1 from *Arabidopsis* contains epidermal growth factor-like (EGF) repeats (He et al., 1999). G, LRK10 from wheat do not exhibit homology to a particular established sequence motif (Feuillet et al., 1997).

Several members of the RLK family contain a different number of leucine-rich repeats (LRR) in their extracellular domain. The LRR regions often participate in protein-protein interactions (Kobe and Deisenhofer, 1994) and hence, they may be involved in the binding of the protein ligands. For example, FLS2 an LRR-RLK from *Arabidopsis* (Gomez-Gomez and Boller, 2000), interacts with flagellin, a peptide component of the flagella of Gram-negative bacteria, and recently the MAP kinase signaling pathway and transcription factors activated by this receptor have been identified (Asai et al., 2002). CLAVATA1 represents another example of this class of RLK with a putative polypeptide ligand CLAVATA3 (Brand et al., 2000; Trotochaud et al., 2000). However, other regions of the extracellular domain of LRR-RLKs, which are not LRR, might mediate binding to the ligand. The LRR-RLK, BRI1, perceives the signal of the steroid hormone brassinolide and a 70 amino acid island region, interrupting LRR regions of the extracellular domain, is required for brassinolide binding to the receptor (Wang et al., 2001).

Another class of RLKs contains lectin-like motifs within their extracellular domain. By their similarity to lectin proteins, these lectin binding motifs of RLKs are thought to bind sugars. For example, the *Ath*.LecRK1 receptor (Hervé et al., 1996) from *Arabidopsis* and the SRK receptor from *Brassica oleracea* (Stein et al., 1991) contain a lectin-like motif (Shiu and Bleecker, 2001). A putative polypeptide ligand for SRK, *SCR*, has been identified (Schopfer et al., 1999); however, data about the extracellular domains interacting with the ligand remain elusive.

Other members of the RLK family exhibit similarity to different types of plant and animal proteins. For example, the extracellular domain of the WAK (wall associated kinase) receptors from *Arabidopsis* contain epidermal growth factor-like (EGF) repeats (He et al., 1999) and CRINKLY4 from maize exhibit similarity to the ligand binding domain of the mammalian tumor necrosis factor receptors (TNFR) (Becraft et al., 1996). Interestingly, other RLKs contain extracellular domains with similarity to pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins from plants. Examples of this class are PR5K from *Arabidopsis* with similarity to PR5 (thaumatin) (Wang et al., 1996) and CHRK1 from tobacco with similarity to chitinase (Kim et al., 2000). On the other hand, a number of RLKs do not exhibit homology to a particular established sequence motif.

Another classification for the different RLKs is through the location of cysteines in the extracellular domain. Cysteines may be involved in formation of disulfide bonds, which may determine the folding and final structure of polypeptides. In animals, the structural relationship of several families of growth factors has become evident through the analysis of their crystallized molecules and a common cystine knot structure has been described (McDonald and Hendrickson, 1993; Sun and Davies, 1995). In plants, different RLKs contain cysteine patterns in their extracellular domains (He et al., 1999; Kohorn et al., 1992; Walker, 1994), and recently a superfamily including a number of RLKs and other proteins with C-rich repeats has been described (Chen, 2001). For example, several RLKs classified into an S-domain class (with the extracellular domain similar to the *Brassicaceae* S-locus glycoproteins) contain an array of cysteine residues in combination with other conserved motifs (Walker, 1994).

The extensive diversity of plant RLKs and the large number of them present in the *Arabidopsis* genome suggest that RLKs may be involved in the perception of a wide range of stimuli including those occurring during plant-pathogen interactions. Indeed, some RLKs have been identified as R genes. For example, Xa21 (LRR-RLK) from *Oryza sativa* (rice) that

confers resistance to *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzae* (Song et al., 1995) and LRK10 from *Triticum aestivum* (wheat) that confers resistance to wheat rust fungi (*Puccinia recondita*) (Feuillet et al., 1997). In addition, several other RLKs have been associated with plant defense responses to pathogens. In these cases, the association is usually based on the expression pattern that the RLKs exhibit in plants treated with pathogens, elicitors, or signal molecules related to plant defense responses. For example, RLK3 from *Arabidopsis* is induced by oxidative stress, salicylic acid and pathogen attack (Czernic et al., 1999) and SFR1 from *Brassica oleracea* is induced by wounding and bacterial infection (Pastuglia et al., 1997).

In addition to the RLKs, several high affinity binding sites for general elicitors including oligosaccharides, glycopeptides and peptides have been identified through biochemical approaches (Cosio et al., 1990; Cheong and Hahn, 1991; Ito et al., 1997; Basse et al., 1993; Nürnberger et al., 1994; Umemoto et al., 1997; Mithöfer et al., 2000). However, little functional data about these putative receptors are available. For example, similar 75 kDa proteins associated with the plasma membrane of *Glycine max* (soybean) and *Phaseolus vulgaris* (French bean) cells, bind β -glucan elicitors from *Phytophthora* species with high affinity (Umemoto et al., 1997; Mithöfer et al., 2000). However, none of these proteins exhibit any known functional domain that might be involved in signal transduction, suggesting that these β -glucan binding proteins may interact with other components to transduce the elicitor signal (Mithöfer et al., 2000).

Plant defense responses

Early events of plant defense

Following pathogen or elicitor recognition, a series of cytological changes and biochemical responses have been identified in plant cells. The cytological changes include papilla formation, increased cytoplasmic streaming and nuclear migration, which are associated with depolymerization of microtubules and microfilaments (Kombrink and Schmelzer, 2001). The biochemical responses include changes in the H⁺, K⁺, Cl⁻, and Ca²⁺ fluxes across the plasma membrane, and the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that occur within 2-5 minutes after elicitor treatment (Nürnberger, 1994; Dixon et al., 1994; Mehdy, 1994; Low and Merida, 1996). Some of these biochemical reactions have been associated with the transduction of signals that lead to defense responses. For example, Ca^{2+} fluxes have been associated with the induction of phytoalexin accumulation (Dixon et al., 1994). Protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation is another early event that follows pathogen recognition and is involved in signal transduction cascades that trigger plant defense responses (Dixon et al., 1994). The identification of several MAP kinases and kinase receptors associated with defense responses highlight the relevance of the phosphorylation/dephosphorylation processes during plant defense signaling. Recently, all the components of the kinase-signaling cascade associated with the recognition of flagellin, a peptide of bacterial flagella, have been identified (Asai et al., 2002).

Local and systemic defense responses

Local defense responses to pathogens or elicitors involve the regulation of several genes, which contribute to generate protective physiological conditions against the invading pathogens. At the site of infection these responses include the generation of ROS (Wojstaszek, 1997), the synthesis of proteins involved in the production of signals such as salicylic acid (SA), jasmonates, and ethylene (Malamy et al., 1990; Enyedi et al., 1992; Creelman and Mullet, 1995) as well as enzymes related to the phenylpropanoid metabolism (Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989; Dixon and Paiva, 1995) and the biosynthesis of phytoalexins (Smith, 1996; Hammerschmidt, 1999), and pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins (Linthorst, 1991). Eventually, cells at the site of infection could undergo programmed cell death that often becomes visible as a hypersensitive response (HR) (Greenberg et al., 1994; Dangl et al., 1996).

A local infection often leads to the induction of similar defense responses in uninfected systemic plant tissues that result in broad-spectrum disease resistance to subsequent infections (Kuć, 1982). Additionally, systemic resistance can also be induced by wounding (Schewizer et al., 1998) and non-pathogenic rhizobacteria (van Loon et al., 1998). Furthermore, the application of an extensive amount of natural and synthetic compounds including SA, jasmonates, ethylene, 2,6-dichloroisonicotinic acid (INA) induce similar defense responses leading to a subsequent plant resistance (Kuć, 2001; Oostendorp et al., 2001). The different systemic defense responses associated with pathogen infections include the induction of several PR genes, accumulation of phytoalexins, induction of ROS and micro-HR (Kuć, 2001; Alvarez, 1998). Interestingly, the systemic resistance to virulent pathogens generated by previous treatment of a plant with biotrophic bacteria (*Pseudomonas fluorescens*) is not associated with induction of PR genes in systemic tissues (Pieterse et al., 1996).

Different signal molecules originated at the local sites of infection are responsible for the systemic responses. The systemic responses induced depend on the pathogen and signal pathways triggered by this pathogen. For example, the systemic acquired resistance (SAR) has been associated with the signal molecule SA, which in turn is required for the induction of SAR genes associated with resistance (Mauch-Mani and Métraux, 1998). However, other systemic responses resulting in resistance are SA-independent (Penninckx et al., 1996). In addition, an extensive amount of emerging evidence suggest that the induction of plant disease resistance results from a complex signaling network involving cross-talk between different pathways (Feys and Parker, 2000)

The wound response

Wound stress and pathogen attack are closely related. Pathogens may gain entrance into plant tissues through wounds produced by mechanical stress and pest injury, e.g. wind, rain, feeding insects, etc. Some of the plant defense responses induced by pathogens are similar to those produced by wounding. For example, defense responses to wound damage include generation of ROS, and induction of signals such as ethylene, and JA and derivatives such as methyl jasmonate (MeJA) (Bowles, 1998). These similarities may reflect the fact that common elicitors such as plant oligogalacturonides are generated during tissue damage produced either by wound or pathogens. Recently, an overlap in pathogen-specific resistance and wound response gene expression profiles has recently been shown (Durrant et al., 2000).

The best characterized event during the wound response is the accumulation of proteinase inhibitor (PIN) in both local and systemic leaves. The induction of wound responses has been associated with several molecules including, oligogalacturonides (OGAs), systemin, abscisic acid, jasmonates, and electrical pulses (León et al., 2001). Oligogalacturonides have been shown to induce local and systemic expression of PIN and they are thought to be formed during leaf wounding. However, although oligogalacturonides may be responsible for the induction of PIN at the local level, it is unlikely that they could be the signal traveling from local to systemic leaves (Bowles, 1991). In contrast, there is evidence that systemin, a wound inducible 18-amino-acid oligopeptide inducing PIN locally and systemically, moves from local wounded leaves to systemic leaves (Ryan and Pearce, 1998). Electric pulses have also been suggested to be a mobile signal responsible for the systemic induction of wound responses (Wildom et al., 1992). However, it may be possible that both local and systemic wound responses result from a complex regulatory network that involves several components (León et al., 2001).

Reactive oxygen species

The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) including hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , superoxide (O_2^{-}) , hydroxyl radical ('OH⁻) and singlet oxygen (¹O₂), normally occurs in the metabolism of plant cells. They are usually generated by the electron transport activities of chloroplasts and mitochondria, and by enzymes in other cell compartments and the apoplast, involved in reduction-oxidation processes of the plant cell (Mehdy, 1994; Foyer, 1994). The hydroxyl radical is believed to be the most reactive species among the ROS mentioned, especially for its ability to initiate radical chain reactions responsible for the irreversible modifications of macromolecules and damage to cell organelles. At the other end, hydrogen peroxide is a relatively stable ROS and it is able to diffuse across cell membranes and reach cell locations remote from the site of its generation (Wojtaszek, 1997). ROS exhibit a dual function in the normal metabolism of plant cells. On one hand, they are toxic compounds that damage plant cells; on the other hand, they may be beneficial as for example, in the lignin formation in cell walls (Foyer et al., 1994; Lewis and Yamamoto, 1990). To control the action of ROS, plant cells contain several enzymatic and nonenzymatic scavenging systems in all subcellular compartments and the apoplastic space. The enzymatic antioxidative systems include enzymes such as catalases, superoxide dismutases, peroxidases, and the enzymes involved in the glutathione-ascorbate cycle. The nonenzymatic antioxidative metabolites include ascorbate, glutathione, flavonoids, carotenoids, and α -tocopherol (Polle, 1997). In plant cells under normal physiological conditions these systems provide sufficient protection against ROS. However, the increased generation of ROS induced by external stimuli, may overcome these systems and produce oxidative stress (Fover 1994).

In host-pathogen interactions, accumulation of ROS has been associated with local defense responses (Levine, 1994; Lamb and Dixon, 1997; Wojtaszek, 1997). In some type of plant-pathogen interactions two phases of oxidative burst have been observed. The first phase occurs within the first hour after elicitor treatment of the plant cells and the second phase starts approximately after 4 hours of treatment and continues for several hours (Lamb and Dixon, 1997). In addition, accumulation of ROS has also been reported in systemic tissues of plants responding to pathogen infection (Alvarez et al., 1998). The most studied sources of ROS formation during plant pathogen-interactions are the NADPH oxidase complex in the

plasma membrane and the generation of hydrogen peroxide by cell-wall peroxidases (Grant and Loake 2000).

The production of ROS during plant defense responses to pathogens is associated with both local and systemic HR (micro-HR) (Alvarez et al., 1998; Kombrink and Schmelzer, 2001). Furthermore, the oxidative burst has been proposed as a prime candidate for triggering HR (Greenberg, 1997; Lamb and Dixon, 1997; Kombrink and Schmelzer, 2001). Other plant defense responses associated with ROS include a direct antimicrobial activity, the cross-linking of plant cell-wall proteins, and the induction of defense related genes (Baker et al., 1997; Lamb and Dixon, 1997; Lewine et al., 1994).

Defense signals

Salicylic acid

Salicylic acid (SA) is a phenolic compound that participates in several physiological processes of plant cells including defense responses to pathogens. The biosynthesis of SA is initially derived from the shikimate pathway. A number of studies carried out in several plants including tobacco, potato and *Arabidopsis* indicate that SA is synthesized from phenylalanine via cinnamic acid and benzoic acid, and that SA forms different conjugated products (Lee et al., 1995; Silverman et al., 1995; Mauch-Mani and Slusarenko, 1996; Shulaev et al., 1997; Coquoz et al., 1998) (Fig. 2). However, recent studies in *Arabidopsis* have shown that SA is synthesized from chorismate via isochorismate and that SA made by this pathway is required for local and systemic defense responses against pathogens (Wildermuth et al., 2001) (Fig. 2). These proposed cascades together with the question marks that they still have and the complexity of the phenylpropanoid pathway, probably reflect the fact that SA may be generated from alternative pathways.

Several pieces of data indicate that SA plays critical roles in plant defense responses. During plant defense responses to some pathogens an increase in SA levels has been observed in local and systemic tissues. For example, in tobacco plants treated with tobacco mosaic virus (TMV), SA increases 20 fold in locally treated leaves and 5-10 fold in systemic tissues (Malamy et al., 1990; Yalpani et al., 1991). The increase of SA acid during plant defense responses is correlated with the induction of PR proteins and resistance, and the exogenous application of SA or functional analogs of SA to plants induce the synthesis of PR proteins and resistance (White 1979; Ward et al., 1991). These lines of evidence suggest that SA plays a critical role during plant defense responses in local and systemic tissues.

SA was originally proposed to be the mobile signal for systemic acquired resistance (SAR) (Malamy et al., 1990; Métraux et al., 1990). Several studies supported this hypothesis. For example, transgenic plants expressing the *nahG* gene, encoding a salicylate hydroxylase that degrades SA to catechol, exhibit enhanced susceptibility to virulent pathogens and are unable to develop SAR (Gaffney et al., 1993; Delaney et al., 1994). In addition, SA has been shown to be transported to uninfected leaves in tobacco and cucumber (Shulaev et al., 1995; Mölders et al., 1996). However, grafting experiments using tobacco plants expressing nahG or reduced levels of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL), and wild-type plants, suggested that other primary systemic signals are involved in the onset of SAR (Vernooij et al., 1994; Pallas et al., 1996). Scions of chimeric tobacco plants exhibited SAR after TMV treatment of nahG

rootstock leaves (Vernooij et al., 1994). Similarly, wild-type scions of chimeric tobacco developed SAR after TMV inoculation of PAL-suppressed rootstock leaves (Pallas et al., 1996). Because, PAL-suppressed scions did not exhibit SAR after TMV inoculation of wild-type rootstock leaves, and SA only partially restored the SAR in PAL-suppressed plants, the authors suggested that, in addition to increased levels of SA the presence of other phenylpropanoid products may be important for SAR induction (Pallas et al., 1996).

There is not a clear picture about the mechanisms of action by which SA induce PR genes and resistance. However, several studies suggest that SA action during plant defense responses may involve the inhibition of catalase and ascorbate peroxidase, which link SA action with the action of ROS. In addition, other SA-binding proteins have been identified although the role of these proteins remains elusive. Furthermore, protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation has also been shown to play a role in SA signal transduction. The identification of Arabidopsis mutants affected in SA-mediated responses is contributing in clarifying the mechanism of action of SA during plant defense responses (Dempsey et al., 1999; Cameron, 2000). For example, NPR1 encodes a protein with ankyrin repeats that function downstream SA in the SAR response and interacts with transcription factors that bind to promoter sequences required for SA-inducible PR gene expression (Cao et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 1999).



Figure 2. Proposed biosynthetic and metabolic pathways of salicylic acid in plants. In box A, the SA pathway occurring during *Arabidopsis* defense responses, recently proposed by Wildermuth et al. (2001). In box B, the traditional pathway proposed for SA biosynthesis, supported by several studies on different plant species including tobacco, potato and *Arabidopsis* (adapted from Lee et al., 1995). Abbreviations: ICS, isochorismate synthase; PL, pyruvate lyase; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; CA4H, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase; BA2H, benzoic acid 2-hydroxylase.

Jamonates and C-6 volatiles

Jasmonic acid (JA) and other structural derivates including methyl jasmonate (MeJA), function as plant signals involved in plant defense to wounding and pathogens and developmental processes such as tuberization and pollen growth (Creelman and Mullet 1995; Sembdner and Parthier 1993). Jasmonates are synthesized from linolenic acid that is oxidized by lipoxygenase (LOX) to form 13-hydroperoxylinolenic acid. Jasmonic acid is produced from 13-hydroperoxylinolenic acid via a series of enzymatic reactions including allene oxide synthase (AOS), allene oxide cyclase (AOC) and other enzymes as indicated in Figure 3 (Creelman and Mullet 1997; Mueller 1997).



Figure 3. Biosynthesis of jasmonic acid and C₆-volatiles. Abbreviations: LOX, lipoxygenase; AOS, allene oxide synthase; AOC, allene oxide cyclase; OPR, 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid reductase; HPL, hydroperoxide lyase; ADH, alcohol dehydrogenase; IF, isomerization factor. (Sources: Hatanaka, 1993; Schaller, 2001).

Increased levels of jasmonates have been found in several plant species after wound and pathogen as well as elicitor treatment (Creelman and Mullet 1995). In addition, treatment of plants with JA or MeJA increases resistance to pathogens (Cohen et al., 1993). JA and MeJA regulate the expression of several genes including proteinase inhibitors, PR genes, and genes involved in phytoalexin biosynthesis (Farmer et al., 1992; Reinbothe et al., 1994; Wasternack and Parthier, 1997). Furthermore, octadecanoid precursors of JA and MeJA also activate the synthesis of proteinase inhibitors (Farmer and Ryan, 1992). On the other hand, photosynthesis related genes such as the small and large subunits of rubisco are downregulated by jasmonates (Creelman and Mullet 1997). The JA signal transduction pathway is mainly unknown. However, several *Arabidopsis* mutants have been identified, which exhibit reduced or increased sensitivity to jasmonates (Creelman and Mullet, 1997; Vijayan et al., 1998).

Another set of signal molecules, the C₆-volatiles, is related to the jasmonate pathway. C₆-volatiles are present in several plants and have been associated with defense responses upon tissue damage (Hatanaka et al., 1987; Turlings et al., 1995). C₆-volatiles derive from 13-hydroperoxy linolenic or linoleic acids, which are formed by LOX from linolenic or linoleic acids respectively (Fig. 3). The 13-hydroperoxides are cleaved by hydroperoxide lyase (HPL) to produce 12-oxo-dodecenoic acid and either *cis*-3-hexenal or hexanal, depending on whether the precursor was 13-hydroperoxy linolenic or linoleic acid, respectively. These C₆-volatile aldehydes are substrates for an alcohol dehydrogenase and an isomerization factor that produce other C₆-volatiles such as *trans*-3-hexenal, *trans*-2-hexenal, *cis*-3-hexenol, *trans*-3-hexenol, *trans*-2-hexenol and hexanol (Hatanaka, 1993).

These C₆-volatiles are rapidly released from damaged tissue and are responsible for the 'green odor' released from damaged leaves (Hatanaka et al., 1987, 1993; Turlings et al., 1995; Bate et al., 1998). The increased production of some of these volatiles including *cis*-3-hexenol and *trans*-2-hexenal has been shown during plant defense responses to pathogens (Croft et al., 1993). Some of the C₆-volatiles have been shown to induce expression of genes (Bate and Rothstein, 1998) and the production of phytoalexins (Zeringue, 1992). Furthermore, C₆-volatiles have been found to exhibit antimicrobial activity (Croft et al., 1993) and they reduce insect feeding rates (Hildebrand et al., 1993). Transgenic plants with reduced levels of HPL exhibited reduced levels of both hexanal and 3-hexenal and insects feeding from these plants (Vancanneyt et al., 2001).

Ethylene

Ethylene is a gaseous signal molecule that regulates numerous processes in plants including normal growth and development, and defense responses to biotic and abiotic stresses (Bleecker and Kende, 2000). Ethylene is synthesized from methionine via S-adenosyl-L-methionine (AdoMet) and 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC). The conversion of AdoMet to ACC is catalyzed by ACC synthase, and ACC oxidase catalyzes the conversion of ACC to ethylene. Ethylene exhibit the capacity to stimulate its own synthesis via a positive feed back loop, and for many biological responses it is effective at nanomolar concentrations (Kende, 1993; Bleecker and Kende, 2000). ACC synthase is the key enzyme responsible for the regulation of ethylene production and it is encoded by a multigene family. The expression of ACC genes is differentially regulated by diverse stimuli (Kende, 1993; Zarembinski and Theologis 1994).

Extensive data indicate that ethylene plays important roles in plant defense responses. The levels of ethylene have been shown to increase upon wounding, pathogen infection or treatment with elicitors of defense responses (Enyedi et al., 1992; O'Donnell et al., 1996). In addition, ethylene regulates the expression of several genes including those participating in plant defense responses to biotic stresses. For example, PR proteins such as glucanase and chitinase are induced by ethylene (Deikman, 1997).

Ethylene perception and signal transduction pathway have been characterized in *Arabidopsis* through the studies of several mutants (Fig. 4). Ethylene is perceived by histidine-kinase receptors. ETR1, ETR2, ERS1, ERS2 and EIN4 constitute a family of ethylene receptors, and mutations of these genes produce plants insensitive to applied ethylene (Johnson and Ecker, 1998; Bleecker and Kende, 2000). CTR1 is a protein kinase acting downstream of the ethylene receptors as a negative regulator of the ethylene response (Kieber et al., 1993). The *EIN2* gene encodes a 12-membrane-pass, metal-ion-transporter (Alonso et al., 1999) and is required for ethylene signaling. Although the role of this gene in the ethylene pathway remains elusive, genetic studies locate EIN2 between CTR1 and EIN3 (Bleecker and Kende, 2000). *EIN3* and the related *EIL1* and *EIL2* encode nuclear proteins (Chao et al., 1997) that regulate the expression of *ERF1* (Solano et al., 1998), a member of a large family of transcription factors referred to as ethylene-response-element-binding-proteins (EREBPs) (Ohme-Takagi and Shinshi, 1995).



Figure 4. Ethylene perception and signal transduction pathway. For a description see the text. (Adapted from Bleecker and Kende, 2000)

Cross-talk between signal pathways

The signal transduction pathways triggered by signal molecules such as SA, JA and ethylene appear to be connected and form an intricate regulatory signaling network that modulates plant defense responses. Jasmonates and ethylene pathways act synergistically for the induction of some PR genes. For example, in tobacco plants ethylene and MeJA synergistically induce two PR genes, PR1b and osmotin (Xu et al, 1994), and in *Arabidopsis*, the expression of *PDF1.2*, a gene encoding an antifungal plant defensin, is concomitantly induced by ethylene and MeJA (Penninckx et al., 1998; Norman-Stterblad et al., 2000).

In contrast, SA and jasmonates have been shown to induce different set of PR genes (Thomma et al., 1998), and antagonism between SA and JA signal pathways has been shown during plant defense responses. For example, SA inhibits the synthesis of proteinase inhibitors induced by JA in tomato plants (Doares et al., 1995b). This antagonism is also reflected by the existence of different types of systemic resistance responses, e.g. SAR responses are SA-dependent whereas other induced systemic resistance (ISR) responses are JA/ethylene-dependent (Mauch-Mani and Métraux, 1998; Pieterse and van Loon, 1999). However, in rice, the SA-analogue INA synergistically stimulates the expression of genes induced by JA (Schweizer et al., 1997), and vice versa, JA enhances the regulation of the SA-induced pathway (Genoud and Métraux, 1999).

Recent studies in *Arabidopsis* with different mutant backgrounds indicate that SAdependent and JA/ethylene-dependent pathways may require components that are active in both pathways. For example, NPR1, a protein with ankyrin repeats that interact with transcription factors (Cao et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 1999), is required for SAR and for ISR responses (Cao et al., 1994; Pieterse et al., 1998). In another example, fumonisin B1, a fungal toxin from *Fusarium moniliforme*, triggers program cell death in wild-type *Arabidopsis* protoplasts, and this response is light-dependent and requires SA-, JA-, and ethylenedependent signaling pathways as well as other unidentified factors (Asai et al., 2000).

Pathogenesis-related proteins

PR proteins form an extensive and heterogeneous group of proteins. The single characteristic that links this group of proteins is that they are induced in pathological or related situations (Linthorst 1991, van Loon et al., 1994). However, some PR proteins are also developmentally regulated (Linthorst 1991). PR proteins are thought to play a major role in plant defense. Some PR proteins have been characterized and their biochemical functions are known. For example, PR-2 proteins are β 1,3-glucanases and PR-3 proteins are chitinases (van Loon et al., 1994). Glucanases and chitinases may hydrolyze structural components of the pathogen (van Loon et al., 1994), and a synergistic effect of both enzymes has been observed on the inhibition of fungal growth (Mauch et al., 1988). Other PR proteins such as for example PR1 from tobacco have been shown to exhibit antifungal activity, however, its biochemical function remains elusive (van Loon and van Strien, 1999).

Phytoalexins

Phytoalexins constitute a large group of diverse compounds that are both synthesized and accumulated in plant cells undergoing defense responses against biotic stresses. The extensive variety of their structures makes it difficult to give a chemical definition for the group and usually phytoalexins are defined as low molecular weight compounds with antimicrobial activity (Smith, 1996; Hammeschmidt, 1999). More than 300 phytoalexins have been characterized including phytoalexins with structures like flavonoids and other phenylpropanoid derivatives, sesquiterpenes, polyketides, etc. (Smith, 1996; Hammeschmidt, 1999). The biosynthesis of phytoalexins may involve a single metabolic pathway or precursors from several different pathways (Kuć, 1995).

Phenylpropanoids

The phenylpropanoid pathway includes an intricate set of reactions producing an extensive and diverse amount of products that participate in several cellular processes including those induced by biotic stresses. Phenylpropanoids are derived from cinnamic acid, which is formed from phenylalanine by the action of phenylalanine amonia-lyase (PAL) (Dixon and Paiva, 1995; Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989) (Fig. 5). A core set of reactions including the formation of cinnamic acid, its conversion into 4-coumaric acid, and the conversion of the latter into 4-coumaryl-CoA derivatives is common to the general phenylpropanoid metabolism (Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989). Individual branches of the pathway may diverge at different points of these core reactions and lead to the formation of diverse phenylpropanoid derivatives including phytoalexins, anthocyanins, flavones, lignin, suberin, cell-wall bound phenolics and signal molecules such as SA (Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989; Lee et al., 1995; Dixon and Paiva, 1995; Keller et al., 1996).



Figure 5. Diagram illustrating the major branch pathways derived from the core reactions common to the general phenylpropanoid metabolism. Abbreviations: PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; CA4H, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-coumarate:CoA ligase. (Adapted from Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989)

Model of study

The phytopathogen Erwinia carotovora subsp. carotovora

facultative anaerobe, nonspore-forming, Soft-rot Erwinias are Gram-negative enterobacteria that cause disease in a wide range of plants including many economically important crops (Agrios, 1997; Pérombelon and Kelman, 1980). The extent of losses varies from country to country and is affected by the climate as well as the conditions of plant growth and storage (Pérombelon and Kelman, 1980). This group of bacteria is formed by several species and subspecies including Erwinia carotovora subsp. carotovora. Infections by E.c. carotovora can occur worldwide in plants growing on the field or in storage after harvesting. Dispersion of these bacteria occurs naturally by the rain, irrigation water, aerosols, insects, nematodes, earthworms and microfauna. Contaminated farm machinery and washing processes are also major means of E.c. carotovora dissemination. The bacteria can also spread from plant to plant especially in those plants which are vegetatively reproduced as for example potato (Pérombelon and Kelman, 1980).

Erwinia enter the plants through natural openings as stomata and lenticels or through wounds caused by feeding insects, herbivores, wind, rain, etc. Inside plant tissues, bacterial population multiply and secrete a large variety of extracellular enzymes that degrade the plant cell walls and the pectic substances of the middle lamella causing the maceration of the tissues (Pérombelon and Salmond 1995). The production of extracellular plant cell wall-degrading enzymes (PCWDEs) including several pectinases, cellulases, and proteases, is central to the virulence of *E.c. carotovora* (Kotoujansky, 1987). The relevance of PCWDEs for the virulence of *E.c. carotovora* has been demonstrated in several studies of mutants that are unable to produce these enzymes. For example, bacterial mutants affected in the production of the polygalacturonase PehA, exhibit reduced virulence (Saarilahti et al., 1992), and mutants affected in the expression of several PCWDEs are avirulent (Pirhonen et al., 1991, 1993). In addition, cell-free culture filtrates (CF) containing the PCWDEs secreted by *E.c. carotovora* reproduce the soft-rot maceration symptoms caused by the pathogen (Collmer and Keen, 1986; Norman-Setterblad et al., 2000).

In *E.c. carotovora* the production of PCWDEs is a very tightly regulated process that involve complex regulatory networks of sensor mechanisms that transduce environmental stimuli into gene expression. Induction of PCWDEs can be stimulated by different types of signals including plant-derived compounds, DNA-damaging agents and quorum sensing molecules (Barras et al., 1994). One of the central controls of PCWDEs production is through the quorum sensing, a signaling system that regulates various physiological responses in many Gram-negative bacteria. Quorum sensing is based on the extracellular accumulation of small diffusible signal molecules, usually different N-acylhomoserine lactones, that, over a threshold concentration correlated with the bacterial population density, induce the coordinated expression of specific target genes (Pierson et al., 1998; Whitehead et al., 2001). In *E.c. carotovora* the extracellular accumulation of the quorum sensing molecule, N-oxoacyl-homoserine lactone (OHL), is required for the coordinated activation of genes encoding PCWDEs (Pirhonen et al., 1993). The biosynthesis of OHL in *E.c. carotovora* is mediated by ExpI, and the inactivation of *expI* by mutagenesis results in downregulation of PCWDEs and an avirulent phenotype (Pirhonen et al., 1991, 1993).

Infection of plants with *E.c. carotovora* does not produce a visible HR in plants, and *avr* genes have not been found in these bacteria. However, some *Erwinia* species, including *E.c.*

carotovora strains SCC1 and *Ecc*71, harbor genes homologous to the hypersensitive reaction and pathogenesis (*hrp*) gene cluster (Rantakari et al., 2001; Cui et al., 1996). The *hrp* cluster encode components of the type III secretion system, which is present in several animal and plant pathogenic Gram-negative bacteria and is believed to transport bacterial effector proteins directly into the host cell (Galán and Collmer, 1999). In addition, *hrp* clusters may be associated with genes such as *avr* genes and genes encoding harpin-like molecules, which may be involved in elicitation of HR in plants (He, 1998). For example, the RsmA⁻ mutant of *E.c. carotovora* strain *Ecc*71 overexpresses *hrpN*_{Ecc} that encodes a harpin-like molecule that elicits HR in plants (Cui et al., 1996; Mukherjee et al., 1997). In the present work we have used the *E.c. carotovora* strain SSC 3193, and in this strain gene homology to harpin-like, *avr* or *hrp* genes have not been found (Saarilahti, personal communication).

The plant hosts

In the present work two plants from the *Solanaceae* family, *Solanum tuberosum* and *Nicotiana tabacum*, were used to study plant defense responses to *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*. Potato plants, including the most commonly cultivated species *Solanum tuberosum*, are the most important dicotyledonous plants used as a nutrition source for humans, and pathogens and pests damaging these plants generate extensive economical losses (Hooker, 1981; Agrios, 1997). *Solanum tuberosum* is a natural host of *E.c. carotovora* and soft-rot diseased plants may be found on the field and in storage. The control of soft-rot diseases in potato and other plants is difficult because the several sources of bacteria and the multiple modes of contamination mentioned above. Most of the methods for controlling bacterial soft-rots are almost exclusively based on sanitary practices. Chemical control is generally not recommended for the control of soft rots (Agrios, 1997; Pérombelon and Salmond, 1995).

Resistance to *E.c. carotovora* has been observed in *Solanum brevidens*, a wild nontuberbearing potato species, which cannot be sexually crossed with *S. tuberosum*. However, tubers from somatic hybrids produced from *S. tuberosum* and *S. brevidens* exhibit enhanced resistance to *Erwinia* species (Austin et al., 1988).

A different approach in controlling soft-rot diseases is to generate transgenic plants resistant to *Erwinia* species. Transgenic potato plants expressing foreign genes such as PL3, a pectate lyase from *E.c. atroseptica*, or T4 lysozyme, a bacteriophage enzyme with lytic activity on bacterial cell walls, exhibited reduced susceptibility to *E.c. atroseptica* (Düring et al., 1993; Wegener et al., 1996). Similarly, transgenic potato plants expressing a fungal glucose oxidase that generates high levels of hydrogen peroxide, exhibited reduced growth of *E.c. carotovora* on tuber discs (Wu et al., 1995).

Tobacco plants have been extensively used as a host model in plant-pathogen interactions. An important amount of data about inducible defense responses to different pathogens including viruses, bacteria and fungi, has been accumulated. For example, several PR genes have been identified and characterized, and local and systemic defense responses against pathogens have been extensively studied in tobacco plants. In addition, tobacco plants are diploids and easily produce seeds in laboratory conditions; features that represent an advantage when screening, storing, and handling transgenic plants. These characteristics

together with the ability of *E.c. carotovora* to infect this plant, make tobacco plants a good complementary model to study plant defense responses to *E.c. carotovora*.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of this thesis was to identify and characterize molecular components of plant defense responses induced by the phytopathogen *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*, and generate transgenic plants with enhanced resistance to this pathogen. Two plants of the *Solanaceae* family, *Solanum tuberosum* and *Nicotiana tabacum*, were used as hosts for *E.c. carotovora*, and studies of potato defense responses were especially emphasized. The specific aims of this study were:

- Characterization of tobacco defense responses induced by plant cell wall-degrading enzymes of *E.c. carotovora*.
- Identification and characterization of potato genes involved in plant defense responses triggered by the plant cell wall-degrading enzymes of *E.c. carotovora*.
- Biochemical analysis of the proteins encoded by the potato genes identified, and partial characterization of the physiological modifications they may produce.
- Generation and analysis of transgenic tobacco plants with enhanced resistance to *E.c. carotovora*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Biological material

The biological material used for the present work is precisely described in each specific study (I-V). Briefly, we have used *Solanum tuberosum* subsp. *tuberosum* and *Nicotiana tabacum* wild-type species. In addition, we also used transgenic tobacco plants. *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora* and cell-free culture filtrates (CF) from these bacteria were used for pathogen and elicitor treatments, respectively. Additionally, different strains of *E. coli* and *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* containing different constructs have been used.

Methods

Technique:	used and described in paper:
Isolation of plant RNA	(I-V)
Isolation of plant DNA	$(\Pi \mathbf{V})$
Isolation of plant proteins	(II, V)
Protein expression in <i>E. coli</i>	
DRD-1 enzyme assays and kinetics	
Thin layer chromatography	
Differential Display	(III, IV)
Suppression subtractive hybridization	
cDNA phage-library construction and screening	(III-IV)
RACE library construction and screening	
PCRs	(II, V)
Vector construction	(III, V)
Southern blot analysis	(II, V)
Northern blot analysis	(I-V)
Western blot analysis	(IV)
Plant transformation	(V)
Quantitative GUS assays	(I, V)
Individual PCDWE preparations and enzyme assays	(I)
<i>E.c. carotovora</i> culture filtrates preparations	(I-IV)
Assays for bacterial virulence and bacterial growth in p	olanta (I, V)
Extraction and assay for N-oxoacyl-homoserine lactone	e (V)
DNA sequencing and computer analysis	(II-V)
Isolation of thylakoid membranes	(III)
Analysis of the photosystem I electron transport	(III)
Detection of hydrogen peroxide in chloroplasts	
by transmission electron microscopy	(III)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results and the corresponding discussions of all five studies included in this thesis are adequately presented in each particular study. Therefore, only a summary of the results is presented and selected parts are discussed in this chapter.

Plant cell wall degrading enzymes from *Erwinia carotovora* synergistically induce SA-independent plant defense responses (I)

Previous studies have shown that PCWDEs from *E.c. carotovora*, including several pectinases, cellulases and proteases, are the main virulence factors of these bacteria. Previous studies have reported that cell-free culture filtrates from *E.c. carotovora* (CF) containing the PCWDEs elicit induction of defense gene expression in plants (Palva et al., 1994; Vidal et al., 1997). In this study we reported the role of individual PCWDEs from *E.c. carotovora* as elicitors of local and systemic defense gene expression and resistance in plants. In addition, we also demonstrated that a SA-independent pathway mediates this systemic resistance.

The role PCDWEs as elicitors of plant defense

In order to characterize the individual contribution of PCWDEs, several of these enzymes were individually produced in E. coli harboring the corresponding genes from E.c. carotovora, e.g. pectinases (PehA, PelA/D) (Saarilahti et al., 1990a; Heikinheimo et al., 1995) or cellulases (CelV1, CelS) (Saarilahti et al., 1990b; Mäe et al., 1995). The activity of individual enzymes in cell-free preparations from E. coli was equalized with the activity of the corresponding enzymes in CF before using these preparations for plant treatments. Tobacco plants treated with individual PCWDEs or combinations of them, and with CF, were analyzed for defense gene activation. This analysis was performed by both measuring glucoronidase (GUS) activity in transgenic tobacco, harboring a reporter gene (uidA) encoding β -glucoronidase under the control of a basic glucanase promoter (Castresana et al., 1990), and by measuring the accumulation of basic glucanase transcripts in tobacco control plants. The results show that mainly pectic enzymes (PehA and PelA/D) induce basic glucanase in locally inoculated leaves, although one cellulase (CelV1) also weakly induced this gene (I, Fig. 1). None of the individual enzymes could induce expression of the basic glucanase gene as high as the corresponding amount of CF. However, plants treated with a combination of all the individual enzymes (PehA+PelA/D+CelS+CelV1) showed an induction of the basic glucanase gene similar to that obtained with CF. Similarly, the combination of one pectic enzyme plus one cellulase resulted in enhanced induction of the basic glucanase gene as compared with the corresponding individual enzymes. However, such a synergism could not be observed when combinations of cellulases (CelV1+CelS) or pectinases (PehA+PelA/D) were used. When the induction of basic glucanase by CF and individual PCWDEs or a combination of them, was analyzed in systemic leaves, similar results were obtained (I, Fig. 2). Taken together, these results indicate that individual PCWDEs synergistically induce local and systemic defense gene expression in plants. One possible explanation of this synergistic effect of PCWDEs is that cellulases and pectinases may cooperate in the degradation of the plant cell wall, which may result in an increased release of plant cell-wall fragments active as plant defense elicitors. On the other hand, these enzymes

release different types of cell-wall fragments, which may be perceived by different plant receptors that in turn activate independent signal transduction pathways that cooperate in the induction of defense genes.

PCDWE-induced resistance is SA-independent

Previous studies indicated that pre-treatment of plants with CF from E.c. carotovora reduced bacterial maceration produced by this pathogen in a subsequent infection of the pretreated tissue (Palva et al., 1993). Those studies and our results, indicating that PCWDEs elicited both local and systemic induction of the basic glucanase gene, prompted us to investigate whether the plant defense responses triggered by these enzymes may lead to a systemic resistance to *E.c. carotovora*. To carry out such a study, we treated axenic wild-type tobacco with CF or with PCWDEs (individual enzymes or combined) 24 hours prior to inoculation of E.c. carotovora, and scored the viable bacteria at different time points after inoculation. The results showed that the pre-treatment of plants with CF, or individual PCWDEs, or a combination of them, prior to E.c. carotovora inoculation, lead to enhanced resistance against this pathogen in systemic leaves (I, Fig. 3 and Table I). However, differences in the inhibition of bacterial growth could be observed between the different pretreatments. Pre-treatments with CF or a combination of PCWDEs (PehA+Pel A/D+CelS+CelV1) resulted in the strongest inhibition of E.c. carotovora growth, while the pre-treatments with individual enzymes showed a less pronounced inhibition of bacterial growth. Furthermore, pre-treatment with pectic enzymes (PehA, PelA/D) produced a stronger bacterial growth inhibition than the cellulase tested (CelV1). These results correspond with the induction of defense gene expression previously observed in systemic leaves (I, Fig. 2), suggesting that PCWDEs from E.c. carotovora cooperate in the induction of the observed enhanced resistance. In order to determine if this enhanced resistance was specific to E.c. carotovora we repeated the pre-treatment of tobacco plants with CF prior to inoculation of Xanthomonas campestris, a bacterial pathogen responsible for black rot disease in several plant species (Williams, 1980) (I, Table II). The results showed that pre-treatment of plants with CF also inhibit X. campestris growth in systemic leaves, suggesting that the CF-induced systemic response enhances resistance to other bacterial pathogens.

These results suggested that the systemic resistance induced by CF might be indicative of a SAR-like response where SA plays a central role. In addition, previous studies showed that pre-treatment of plants with SA enhances plant resistance to *E.c. carotovora* (Palva et al., 1994). Therefore, the involvement of SA in the CF-induced resistance against E.c. carotovora was studied by following the growth of this pathogen in CF-pretreated transgenic NahG tobacco, which cannot accumulate SA (Gaffney et al., 1993) (I, Fig. 4A). The results show that CF leads to inhibition of bacterial growth in NahG tobacco in a similar way as it does in wild-type plants (I, Fig. 3). In order to exclude the possibility that NahG plants can still respond to SA, bacterial growth was evaluated in NahG plants treated with SA or with CF plus SA, and as a control we pre-treated wild type plants with SA. The results show that SA did not inhibit E.c. carotovora growth in NahG plants (I, Fig. 4B). In contrast, SA clearly inhibited bacterial growth in wild-type plants (I, Fig. 4D). Furthermore, SA plus CF inhibited bacterial growth in NahG plants (I, Fig. 4C) in a similar way as the treatment of these plants with only CF (I, Fig. 4A). Taken together, these results indicate that the CF-induced systemic resistance to E.c. carotovora is not mediated by SA and probably relies on a different signal. Molecules such as jasmonate and methyl jasmonate as well as ethylene have been shown to be

involved in plant-pathogen interactions (Creelman and Mullet 1995; Enyedi et al., 1992), therefore, these signals may be involved in the systemic resistance induced by CF.

Identification, isolation and characterization of potato target genes

The general aim of this work was to identify and characterize molecular components of plant defense responses induced by *E.c. carotovora*. As a strategy to reach this goal, we focused on the identification of potato genes differentially regulated after treatment with PCDWEs from *E.c. carotovora*. Studies II, III and IV of this thesis present data related to the genes identified.

Novel potato receptor-like protein kinases induced by *Erwinia carotovora* (II)

Isolation and sequence analysis of PRKs

A primary 206 bp cDNA fragment was isolated by the suppression subtractive hybridization technique (SSH) (Diatchenko, et al 1996) and RNA-gel blot hybridization experiments indicated that the corresponding gene was induced by CF treatment in potato leaves. Sequence information for this fragment was used to isolate the corresponding full-length cDNA by screening a CF-induced cDNA RACE-library. As result, 4 full-length cDNAs with different EcoRI restriction patterns were isolated. Sequence analysis of these cDNAs indicated that they encode receptor-like protein kinases. They contain a signal peptide (von Heijne, 1990) at their N-terminus followed by an extracellular domain of 255-280 amino acids containing 6-7 putative glycosylation sites, which is linked to a transmembrane spanning domain connecting to the cytoplasmic kinase domain (II, Fig. 1). The kinase domains contain all the characteristics of serine-threonine protein kinases including the 15 invariable amino acids with the correct organization (II, Fig. 2a) (Hanks et al., 1988; Hanks and Quinn, 1991). Based on the sequence information of these cDNAs we named them PRK-1, 2, 3, 4, for potato receptor-like protein kinase. The amino acid similarity between PRKs was 91-98%.

Several receptor-like protein kinases (RLK) have been identified in plants, and based on the structural characteristics of the extracellular domain they have been classified into different groups (Walker, 1994; Satterlee and Sussman 1998; Shiu and Bleecker, 2001). In order to investigate if PRKs exhibit characteristics of the already known RLKs, the extracellular domains of all the PRKs were aligned and compared with the extracellular domain of RLKs from databases and specific regions were analyzed. We did not find any already described motif for eukaryotic receptors including those described for plant RLKs. The highest amino acid sequence similarity of the extracellular domain was found with PvPR20-1, an RLK of a new type from Phaseoulus vulagaris (Lange et al., 1999), and three different putative Arabidopsis RLKs. Alignment and comparison of the extracellular domain of these genes and the PRKs showed that: i) these domains exhibit 45-59% of amino acid similarity, ii) all the extracellular domains contain 6-9 putative glycosylation sites except for one Arabidopsis RLK that contain only four, iii) the relative position of four of the putative glycosylation sites were conserved and iv) all contain a conserved pattern of cysteine residues (II, Fig. 2c). In this conserved pattern of cysteine residues, two modules containing six cysteines each can be distinguished. The first module is located close to the N-terminus and contains a $C-X_{(49-53)}-C-X_{(8)}-C-X_{(11)}-C-X_{(12-14)}-C$ motif, which is followed by a 75-77

amino acid segment that links it to the second module containing a $C-X_{(8)}-C-X_{(2)}-C-X_{(10)}-C-X_{(0-1)}-C-X_{(12)}-C$ motif that is followed by 40-42 amino acids connecting with the putative transmembrane domain. Interestingly, PRK-3 lacks a cysteine in the first module and PRK-4 lacks a cysteine in the second module. As mentioned in the introduction, several eukaryotic receptors exhibit conserved cysteine patterns including some already described in plant RLKs (He et al., 1999; Kohorn et al., 1992; Satterlee and Sussman, 1998; Walker, 1994); however, in the extracellular domain of those sequences we did not find the cysteine pattern described here. Interestingly, part of the bi-modular cysteine pattern we described (-C-X₍₈₎-C-X₍₂₎-C-) is also found in a recently described superfamily of plant proteins, which include plant RLKs and other proteins with cysteine-rich repeats (Chen, 2001). In conclusion, the structural similarities described and especially the conserved bi-modular cysteine pattern shared by the PRKs, PvPR20-1 from *Phaseoulus vulgaris* (Lange et al., 1999) and three different putative *Arabidopsis* RLKs, suggest that they represent a new class of plant RLKs.

PRK-3 may be generated by alternative splicing

The analysis of the extracellular domain of the PRKs also suggested that PRK-3 might have arisen as a result of alternative splicing. Alignment of the PRKs revealed that PRK-3 exhibited a gap of 25 amino acids in a region of the extracellular domain where the other PRKs contain a conserved cysteine and a putative glycosylation site (II, Fig. 1). Analysis of this region in *prk-3* and the other *prk* cDNAs revealed highly conserved sequences for splice sites (Brown and Simpson, 1998) in prk-2 and prk-4 (II, Fig. 2b). As a consequence of such putative alternative splicing, the 25 amino acids would be removed and, as an additional consequence, an amino acid substitution (serine instead of alanine) would occur in PRK-3. Southern blot analysis of the potato genome hybridized with a *prk* probe specific to the fragment covering the putative intron supported the notion that prk-3 may result from alternative splicing (II, Fig. 3). Interestingly, a similar kind of splicing event, showing 25 amino acid insertion containing one or two cysteines plus one glycosylation site and one amino acid substitution at the splice junction, was suggested in the extracellular domain of TGF-β type II receptors from mouse and humans (Hirai and Fujita, 1996; Suzuki et al., 1994). The similarity of the splicing events between these mammalian TGF-B receptors and the PRKs, suggest that a similar mechanism may be involved in the processing of receptor-like serine-threonine kinases in different types of eukaryotic cells. On the other hand, it has recently been shown that alternative splicing occurred within the extracellular domain region of *inrpk1* transcripts, a gene from *Ipomea nil* encoding an LRR-RLK (Basset et al., 2000). Thus, it may be possible that modifications of the extracellular domain of RLKs created by alternative splicing may generate receptors with the same signaling function but with different affinity for a specific ligand. Additionally, these variations may create different isoforms of receptors that bind structurally related ligands. In the case of PRKs, PRK-3 lacks a putative glycosylation site and a cysteine residue in the first module and PRK-4 lacks a cysteine in the second module. Because cysteine residues are usually related to the formation of disulfide bonds, which may affect the three-dimensional structures of the proteins, it may both be possible that the different PRKs exhibit different binding affinities for the same ligand and that they bind structurally related ligands.

Expression of PRK transcripts

In order to study the role of *prk* genes in plant response to *E.c. carotovora*, we characterized their expression pattern in different plant tissues after CF treatment by RNA-gel blot hybridization and RT-PCR. Local induction of *prk* transcripts was observed in leaves and mini-tubers treated with CF. The transcripts were induced up to 24 hours after CF treatment exhibiting the highest accumulation within the first hour (II, Fig. 4). Furthermore, analysis by RT-PCR indicated that prk-1 and prk-4 transcripts were expressed in different tissues during the first hour of CF-treatment (II, Fig. 5). A low and delayed accumulation of *prk* transcripts was also observed in systemic leaves. The early accumulation of *prk* transcripts in different tissues responding to CF treatment suggest that PRKs may be involved in signal perception during potato defense responses to *E.c. carotovora*.

In animals, some receptors are up-regulated by their own ligands, for example the interleukin 2 and the epidermal growth factor receptors (Clark et al., 1985; Deeper et al., 1985). Thus, it may be possible that a similar situation could occur with PRKs. As mentioned in the introduction, the PCWDEs are the main virulence determinants of E.c. carotovora and cell wall fragments trigger plant defense responses (I). In addition, previous results from our group have shown that synthetic oligogalacturonides and CF similarly induce plant defense genes (Norman et al., 1999). Thus, in order to elucidate the nature of the inducer of PRKs, we characterized their expression pattern in leaves treated with di-oligogalacturonic acid (dimers) and tri-oligogalacturonic acid (trimers) (Fig. 5a and b). The results show that dimers, trimers and CF induce prk transcripts to similar levels during the first hour. However, clear differences between the expression patterns of CF and oligogalacturonide-treated plants were observed in the following hours. The accumulation of prk transcripts in CF-treated plants decreased during the second hour to a lower level that remained constant during the next hours. In contrast, the accumulation of *prk* transcripts in oligogalacturonide-treated plants increased during the second hour and decreased abruptly to control levels at four hours after treatment. In addition a low but detectable and reproducible induction of *prk* transcripts was observed in wounded plants. These results suggest that short oligogalacturonides released by CF or wound treatment are responsible for the induction of *prk* genes. The difference in the kinetics of *prk* accumulation between CF and oligogalacturonide-treated plants may be explained by the fact that the former is an enzymatic solution that continuously releases oligogalacturonides during several hours as maceration proceeds, while the latter is a solution with a fixed concentration of oligogalacturonide. Interestingly, the abrupt decrease of *prk* transcripts in oligogalacturonide-treated plants may reflect the involvement of a different type of signal that controls the temporal expression of *prk* transcripts. The characterization of *prk* expression suggest that PRKs are involved in potato defense responses to E.c. carotovora and show the relevance of short oligogalacturonides as elicitors of *prk* expression in this plantpathogen interaction. The isolation of PRKs provides a new molecular tool to study the early stages of plant-*E.c. carotovora* interactions at the interface.

A novel potato defense-related alcohol dehydrogenase induced by *Erwinia* carotovora (III)

Identification, isolation and characterization of drd-1

The identification of *Solanum tuberosum* genes responsive to culture filtrates (CF) from E.c. carotovora by differential display (Liang and Pardee 1992, Liang et al. 1993) led to the isolation of a 550 cDNA fragment corresponding to a gene induced in potato leaves after CF treatments. Subsequently, this fragment was used as a probe for screening a potato CFinduced cDNA library. As a result, a full-length cDNA encoding a 359 amino acid polypeptide with high similarity to alcohol dehydrogenases was isolated. Based on the CFinduced mRNA expression and the sequence similarity of the protein we named the corresponding gene drd-1, for defense-related alcohol dehydrogenase. Computer analysis of DRD-1 sequence revealed specific patterns for zinc-containing alcohol dehydrogenases (Jörnvall et al., 1987; Sun and Plapp, 1992), and no clear targeting domains were found within the sequence, suggesting a cytoplasmic location of the protein (III, Fig. 1). Alignment of DRD-1 and comparison with similar protein sequences from databases showed 76-88% of amino acid similarity with AtELI3 from Arabidospis thaliana (Kiedrowski et al., 1992), AgMTD from Apium graveolens (Williamson et al., 1995), LeRSE from Lycopersicon esculentum (Lauter, 1996), MsaCAD1 from Medicago sativa (Brill et al., 1999) and PtSAD from Populus tremuloides (Li et al., 2001).

Characterization of the expression patterns of *drd-1* revealed that this gene is expressed locally and systemically in CF-treated potato leaves as well as in wound-treated leaves (III, Fig. 2). These results suggest that *drd-1* plays a role both locally and systemically in potato response to tissue damage whether produced by pathogens or wounding. Further characterization of drd-1 expression in potato plants treated with SA, MeJA or ethylene indicated that all these defense signal molecules induced *drd-1* transcripts up to 24 hours after treatment; however, the expression patterns were clearly different (III, Fig. 3). SA showed a transiently strong induction of drd-1 at 8-12 hours after treatment, while MeJA or ethylenetreated plants showed the highest level of expression at 24 hours. These results suggest that SA, MeJA and ethylene may mediate the induction of *drd-1* expression in potato plants responding to E.c. carotovora. On the other hand, as mentioned above, SA, MeJA and ethylene have been implicated in plant defense responses to different pathogens, e.g. virus, bacteria and fungi, and we have shown that *drd-1* expression is differentially induced by these defense signal molecules as well as by CF and wounding. Thus, it may be possible that drd-1 participate in defense responses to damaged tissues irrespective of the source and type of such damages. If this is the case, then *drd-1* expression may be part of a general defensive physiological adaptation of the cells to diverse stresses.

Biochemical characterization of DRD-1

In order to determine the biochemical function of DRD-1, its cDNA was expressed in *E. coli*. The enzymatic assays revealed that DRD-1 is an alcohol:NADP⁺ oxidoreductase with preference for various aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes as substrates (III, Fig. 4). The enzyme exhibited an absolute requirement for NADP⁺/ NADPH as a cofactor that could not be substituted by NAD(H). The highest activity of DRD-1 was observed with 2-metoxy-

benzaldehyde as a substrate (Km 4.8 µM). However, the enzyme catalyzed the conversion of various other aldehydes with a similar high efficiency. These highly efficient substrates include: i) cinnamaldehyde and hydrocinnamaldehyde, ii) aliphatic aldehydes such as hexanal and octanal as well as iii) benzaldehyde derivatives such as 2-methoxy-benzaldehyde, 3methoxy-benzaldehyde, salicylaldehyde, benzaldehyde and o-vanillin. In addition, DRD-1 exhibits significant activity with several other related benzaldehyde derivatives and aliphatic aldehydes including trans-2-hexenal, trans-2-nonenal, trans-2-cis-6-nonadienal, 4-methoxybenzaldehyde and 3,4-dimethoxy-benzaldehyde. Low but detectable activity of DRD-1 was observed with syringaldehyde, 4-hydroxy-benzaldehyde, vanillin and isovanillin as substrates. In contrast, substrates such as coniferyl aldehyde and sinapaldehyde showed no detectable activity. Oxidation of the corresponding alcohols was also observed, although at least at 10 times slower rates. Analysis of the reaction products by thin layer chromatography revealed that, under the reaction conditions tested, DRD-1 enzyme carries out the conversion of aldehydes to alcohols (III, Fig. 5). The comparison of DRD-1 activities with all the different substrates and the chemical structure of them suggest that 4-methoxy and especially 4hydroxyl groups in aromatic aldehydes reduce the efficiency of DRD-1 enzyme. This notion is supported by the kinetic studies of DRD-1 (III, Table II) and for example the low or not detectable activity of DRD-1 with p-hydroxy-cinnamaldehyde derivatives.

To determine DRD-1 enzyme activity in plants after treatment with CF we used plant crude extracts for DRD-1 enzymatic assays. A very high protease activity in CF-treated tissues did not allow such an assay. Instead, since SA and MeJA-treated plants exhibited the highest increase of drd-1 transcripts, we decided to test DRD-1 activity in SA and MeJAtreated plants (III, Fig. 6). The activity of the enzyme was measured using 2-methoxybenzaldehyde as a substrate (Km 4.8 µM). These results show a basal enzymatic activity with this substrate in control plants. After 12 hours of treatment with SA, leaf tissue exhibited almost a 4-fold increase in enzyme activity, while 24 hours MeJA-treated plants showed more than a 2-fold increase. These increases in DRD-1 activity correspond with the increase of drd-*1* transcripts observed in SA and MeJA treated plants, suggesting that DRD-1 activity might indeed play a role in plant defense response. However, although we did not measure the amount of drd-1 transcripts, considering the increase of drd-1 transcripts observed in SA or MeJA-treated plants, a higher activity of DRD-1 in plant proteins would be expected with these samples. This observation suggests that *drd-1* may probably be post-transcriptionally regulated. Although this post-transcriptional regulation remains to be confirmed, it suggests that a tight regulation of DRD-1 activity may be of high relevance for the physiological adaptation of cells undergoing a defense response.

As mentioned above, DRD-1 exhibited a high similarity (76-88%) with AtELI3 from Arabidopis thaliana (Kiedrowski et al., 1992), AgMTD from Apium graveolens (Williamson et al., 1995), LeRSE from Lycopersicon esculentum (Lauter, 1996), MsaCAD1 from Medicago sativa (Brill et al., 1999) and PtSAD from Populus tremuloides (Li et al., 2001). However, despite this high sequence similarity these proteins exhibit distinct functional properties. AgMTD is a mannitol dehydrogenase (Williamson et al., 1995) and PtSAD is a sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase (Li et al., 2001). The product encoded by LeRse-1 gene is, by similarity, considered a cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) (Lauter, 1996) but to our knowledge, there are no reports about the substrate specificity of the enzyme. In contrast, MsaCAD1, AtELI3 and DRD-1 appear to be functionally related. AtELI-3 has been shown to be pathogen induced (Kiedrowski et al., 1992) and MsaCAD1 was shown to be induced by wounding and salicylic acid treatments (Brill et al., 1999). In addition, another ELI3 protein, PcELI-3 from parsley has also been shown to be pathogen induced (Logemann et al., 1997).

All these enzymes catalyze the reduction of a broad spectrum of aldehyde substrates, however they exhibit differences in the kinetics and the affinity for different aldehydes. Thus, considering the sequence similarity, the enzyme properties and the participation in plant defense responses, DRD-1, *At*ELI-3, *Msa*CAD1 and *Pc*ELI-3 appear to form a group of related alcohol dehydrogenases although with different substrate specificity. These enzymes may play similar roles during plant defense. However, despite the known biochemical function, the biological role that these enzymes play during plant defense responses remains elusive.

The expression patterns of drd-1 transcripts observed with CF, wound, SA, MeJA and ethylene and the high activity of DRD-1 with several aromatic and aliphatic compounds suggest that this enzyme may carry out different roles in cells undergoing defense responses. The high activities with aromatic compounds suggest that this enzyme may be involved in phenylpropanoid metabolism, which has been shown to be activated by pathogen and wounding (Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989; Dixon and Paiva, 1995). Phenolic compounds biosynthesized during plant defense responses may be associated with the cell wall. The structural similarity of some cell wall-bound phenolics synthesized in potato plants responding to fungal elicitors (Keller et al., 1996), with DRD-1 substrates suggest that DRD-1 activity may be related to the formation of cell wall-bound phenolics. On the other hand, SA is a compound derived from the phenylpropanoid pathway (Lee et al., 1995) and SA has been shown to be involved in plant signaling (Malamy and Klessig, 1992; Gaffney et al., 1993; Delaney et al., 1994). Thus, considering the close structural relationship of SA with the highly efficient DRD-1 substrates, such as benzaldehyde, methoxy-benzaldehydes and salicylaldehyde, it may be possible that DRD-1 plays a role in plant stress signaling (see Fig. 2 in the introduction and Fig. 4 in study III).

Interestingly, several aliphatic compounds that we have shown to be related to DRD-1 activity may also have a role in plant stress signaling. Some of these aliphatic aldehydes, substrates of DRD-1, and the corresponding alcohols, are C₆-volatiles released by tissue damage in several plants (Hatanaka et al., 1987; Turlings et al., 1995; Bate et al., 1998), and they can act as plant signals that affect gene expression (Bate and Rothstein, 1998). Furthermore, an alcohol dehydrogenase activity has been related to the interconversion of C₆-volatile alcohols and aldehydes (see Fig. 3 in the introduction and Fig. 4 in study III) (Hatanaka et al., 1987; Bate et al., 1998). Therefore, it is possible that DRD-1 is involved in modulation of these plant stress signals.

Another point to consider is that, as a consequence of DRD-1 activity on a broad spectrum of aldehyde substrates, NADP/NADPH homeostasis may be altered, which in turn may affect the reducing potential of plant cells undergoing defense responses. Generation of reactive oxygen species usually occurs during plant defense responses (Wojstaszek, 1997) and detoxification of these oxygen species may rely on NAD(P)/NAD(P)H homeostasis. In yeasts, four different NADPH oxidoreductase homologs from *Arabidopsis* have been shown to confer yeast tolerance to the thiol-oxidizing drug diamide (Babiychuck et al., 1995). Thus, it may be possible that DRD-1 activity is also related to the oxidative burst occurring in plant defense responses.

The overall contribution that the activity of DRD-1 plays in plant defense responses may be difficult to unravel because of the multiplicity of interrelated factors associated with such activity. On one hand, each of the products released by DRD-1 activity may participate in different pathways; on the other hand, the products released will depend on the substrate availability for this enzyme. Subcellular localization of DRD-1 and cell integrity may play important roles for substrate availability, thus affecting the final output of DRD-1 activity.

Downregulation of photosystem I by *Erwinia carotovora* derived elicitors correlates with H₂O₂ accumulation in chloroplasts of potato plants (IV)

Isolation and characterization of *psaD*

In this study we report the isolation by differential display of a 300 bp cDNA fragment that was downregulated by CF treatment in potato leaves. Preliminary sequence analysis indicated that this fragment might correspond to *psaD*, a nuclear gene encoding the subunit II (PSI-D) of photosystem I (PSI). Subsequently, screening of a potato cDNA library using this fragment as a probe resulted in the isolation of a 780 bp full-length cDNA. The 624 bp open reading frame encodes a 207 amino acids polypeptide, and computer analysis revealed that this sequence contains a signal peptide domain characteristic of proteins targeted to the chloroplast (Emanuelsson et al., 2000). Comparison and alignment of potato PSI-D sequence with similar proteins showed extensive similarity (78-99%) to other PSI-D subunits from several plant species (IV, Fig. 1). When the signal peptide domain was excluded from such comparison, the sequence similarity of potato PSI-D with the other PSI-D subunits was 89-100%. This extensive similarity and the remarkable conservation of the primary structure of PSI subunits and the overall mechanism of PSI function in cyanobacteria, green algae, and plants (Chitnis et al., 1995), strongly suggest that the isolated gene correspond to *psaD*, which encodes the PSI-D subunit of PSI in potato plants.

PSI-D is located in the stromal side of PSI and plays multiple structural and physiological roles important for the correct function of PSI complex (Chitnis, 1996; Scheller et al., 1997). PSI-D interacts with PSI-C, -E, -H, -I and -L, and is important for the stabilization of PSI complex (Scheller et al., 2001). In particular, the interaction of PSI-D with PSI-C (a subunit containing two [4Fe-4S] clusters, F_A and F_B, the terminal electron transfer centers of PSI) is important for the right orientation of PSI-C in the core of PSI (Li et al., 1991; Naver et al., 1995). PSI-D is responsible for the docking of ferredoxin (Andersen et al., 1992; Merati and Zanetti, 1987; Zilber and Malkin, 1988; Pandini et al., 1999), which transfers the electrons donated by PSI to several reactions including the reduction of NADP⁺ via ferredoxin:NADP⁺ oxidoreductase (Knaff and Hirasawa. 1991). and the direct reduction of monodehydroascorbate radical to ascorbate (Miyake and Asada, 1994). The relevance of the role of PSI-D in the interaction with ferredoxin has been demonstrated in PSI-D-less mutants of *Synechocystis*, which are unable to reduce NADP⁺ via ferredoxin (Xu et al., 1994).

Characterization of the expression patterns of *psaD* indicated that this gene is locally and systemically downregulated in leaves of CF-treated as well as in wound-treated plants (IV, Fig. 2). Further characterization of the *psaD* expression in plants treated with SA, MeJA and ethylene suggest that MeJA and ethylene might mediate the downregulation of *psaD* transcripts in CF-treated plants (IV, Fig. 3). Taken together these results suggest that the regulation of PSI may play a role in plant cells responding to tissue damage.

Functional characterization of photosystem I

As the first step to test whether the structure and function of PSI were affected by the downregulation of *psaD* transcripts, we analyzed PSI-D as well as several PSI subunits by western blot. Interestingly, despite the remarkable downregulation of *psaD* transcripts in CF-

treated leaves, the inmunoblot analysis revealed that PSI-D did not exhibit a visible change between CF-treated and untreated control plants (IV; Fig. 4). Similarly, analysis of several other subunits of the PSI complex such as PSI-A, -B, -C, -E, -F and -N, and PSI-related proteins such as ferredoxin:NADP⁺ oxidoreductase (FNR) did not exhibit visible changes between CF-treated and untreated control plants (IV; Fig. 4). However, when the NADP⁺ photoreduction activity of PSI was analyzed with these samples, we observed a 10-13% decrease in the PSI electron transport activity to NADP⁺ after 12 and 24 hours of CF treatment. (IV; Fig. 5). Taken together, the results may suggest that the marked downregulation of *psaD* transcripts in CF-treated plants may slightly reduce the pool of PSI-D and this reduction may not be visible by western blot analysis but it is reflected by a decrease of the NADP⁺ photoreduction activity of PSI. The critical roles that PSI-D subunit plays in the stability and physiology of the PSI complex, especially the docking of ferredoxin, suggest that a slight modification of this protein may affect PSI electron transport to ferredoxin. In agreement with this suggestion, recently it was shown that single-site mutations of the C-terminus of PSI-D from Synechocystis, showed PSI mutant complexes with reduced affinity for ferredoxin and decreased NADP⁺ photoreduction activity (Lagoutte et al. 2001). Nevertheless, we cannot exclude that other factors different from a reduced level of PSI-D may be involved in the downregulation of the NADP⁺ photoreduction activity of PSI observed in CF-treated plants.

Downregulation of photosystem I correlates with hydrogen peroxide accumulation

Previous studies focused on the normal physiology of PSI revealed that this complex is an important source of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Asada et al., 1974), and the stromal and thylakoid-bound scavenging systems around PSI play an important role in detoxification of ROS (Asada, 1999). The superoxide photoproduced at the stromal side of PSI is converted by spontaneous disproportionation or by superoxide dismutase to hydrogen peroxide, which is scavenged by the stromal and the thylakoid-bound ascorbate peroxidases (Asada, 1999). These data together with those indicating that PSI-D play critical roles in the structure and function of PSI, prompted us to investigate whether the downregulation of the NADP⁺ photoreduction activity of PSI observed in CF-treated plants correlates with an accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in chloroplasts. Hydrogen peroxide accumulation was histologically analyzed in untreated controls and CF-treated tissues by CeCl₃ staining and transmission electron microscopy (IV; Fig. 6). As a positive control for hydrogen peroxide accumulation in chloroplasts, plants were treated with methyl viologen, which binds to the stromal side of PSI and generates reactive oxygen species (Gillham and Dodge, 1987). The results show that in untreated control plants, where the PSI electron transport is not affected, there is no accumulation of hydrogen peroxide, suggesting that the normal photoproduction of hydrogen peroxide by thylakoid membranes is efficiently controlled by the scavenging systems of the chloroplasts. In addition, the results show that hydrogen peroxide accumulation was visible in the chloroplasts of CF-treated plants after 12 hours of treatment as well as in the positive controls treated with methyl viologen. These results indicate that the downregulation of PSI observed in CF-treated tissues correlates with the hydrogen peroxide accumulation observed, suggesting that the downregulation of PSI may cause an increase of reactive oxygen species in the chloroplasts of cells responding to *E.c. carotovora* elicitors.

A summary of the documented events normally occurring around PSI during the formation and scavenging of ROS are presented in Figure 7 of study IV (reviewed by Asada,

1999). Briefly, those data highlight the relevance of the electrons carried by PSI-reduced ferredoxin in the adequate recycling of the ascorbate pool and consequently, in the scavenging of hydrogen peroxide. Based on those data and the results presented in this report, we discuss the correlation observed between the downregulation of the PSI electron transport to NADP⁺ and the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in chloroplasts of CF-treated plants.

The downregulation of the NADP⁺ photoreduction activity of PSI that we observed in CF-treated plants, is a direct measure of the PSI electron transport reducing ferredoxin, thus suggesting that in those chloroplasts less reduced ferredoxin may be available to subsequent reactions using this molecule. This may lead to the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide that we have observed in the chloroplast of CF-treated plants. Firstly, PSI exhibited a reduced capacity to transfer the electrons to ferredoxin, suggesting that an equal amount of light energy exciting the thylakoids of CF-treated and untreated control plants, may be excessive for the PSI complexes of CF-treated plants, resulting in a enhanced ROS formation. Secondly, a decrease in the pool of PSI-reduced ferredoxin would result in less reducing power available to reactions using this molecule, such as those implicated in the scavenging of hydrogen peroxide, thus enhancing ROS accumulation (IV; Fig. 7). This notion is supported by our results with methyl viologen, which induced accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in potato chloroplasts (IV; Fig. 6). Methyl viologen binds to the stromal side of PSI competing with the endogenous acceptor ferredoxin (Summers, 1980), and decreases NADP⁺ photoreduction mediated by PSI (Albrecht et al., 1998). In addition, treatment of plants with methyl viologen induces accumulation of ROS in chloroplasts (Gillham and Dodge, 1987), which is histologically detected by CeCl₃ staining and transmission electron microscopy (Pellinen et al., 1999). Therefore, although we cannot exclude other sources, it may be possible that the downregulation of the NADP⁺ photoreduction activity of PSI reflects a modification in the physiology of PSI that alters the normal electron transport, resulting in hydrogen peroxide accumulation in the chloroplasts of plants responding to *E.c. carotovora*.

Transgenic plants producing *N*-oxoacyl-homoserine lactone exhibit enhanced resistance to *Erwinia carotovora* (V)

As mentioned in the introduction, the production of the main virulence determinants of E.c. carotovora, the PCWDEs, is controlled through the quorum sensing system in these bacteria. This system is based on the production of small diffusible signals such as Noxoacyl-homoserine lactone (OHL), the accumulation of which is required for the coordinated expression of PCWDEs in E.c. carotovora (Pirhonen et al., 1993). As a result of such a control mechanism, the massive production of PCWDEs starts when the OHL concentration has reached or exceeded certain threshold, ergo, the bacterial population has reached a certain density (quorum) (Salmond et al; 1995; Whitehead et al., 2001). On the other hand, we have also shown that PCWDEs trigger plant defense responses (I-IV). Thus, the control of the virulence through the quorum sensing in *E.c. carotovora* may facilitate the establishment of a successful infection, since the bacteria can multiply in plant tissues without triggering a plant defense response, and attack the host only when certain minimal bacterial population density has been achieved. Based on these assumptions we hypothesized that transgenic plants overexpressing OHL synthases, would in E.c. carotovora induce the premature production of PCWDEs already at low cell densities, which would trigger a premature induction of plant defense responses and affect the balance of this host-pathogen interaction in favor of the host. To test this hypothesis we generated transgenic tobacco expressing bacterial *expI*, a gene from E.c. carotovora responsible for the biosynthesis of OHL in this pathogen (Pirhonen et al., 1993).

Generation of transgenic plants producing N-oxoacyl-homoserine lactone

A vector containing the bacterial *expI* gene under control of the *Cauliflower mosaic virus* 35S promoter was used for tobacco transformation mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* (V, Fig. 1). As a control only the vector was used for plant transformation. Two lines of transgenic plants harboring *expI* and two lines only the vector (control) were used. The expression of the foreign *expI* gene in transgenic plants was measured by RNA-gel blot hybridization and RT-PCR (IV, Fig. 1). The production of biologically active OHL in transgenic plants was analyzed by a bioluminescence assay (V, Fig. 2). These results confirm that it is possible to produce OHL in plants by ectopic expression of the bacterial OHL synthase gene (*expI*).

To test if the amount of OHL produced by transgenic plants was enough to affect bacterial phenotype *in planta*, we first characterized whether the OHL-negative phenotype of the *expl*⁻ mutant SCC3065 could be complemented in transgenic plants. This mutant is avirulent (Pirhonen et al., 1991, 1993), essentially because of the lack of OHL-dependent production of PCWDEs required for tissue maceration, and it is not able to multiply *in planta*. The infection of transgenic and control plants with *expl*⁻ mutant showed a partial complementation only in OHL-producing plants. This complementation was partial because although we did not observed maceration in plants infected with *expl*⁻ mutant, the bacterial could transiently recover the capacity to multiply in OHL-producing plants while this capacity was absent in control plants (IV, Fig. 3). These results indicated that the production of OHL by transgenic plants expressing bacterial *expl* gene was enough to affect bacterial behavior *in planta*.

Enhanced resistance to Erwinia carotovora in OHL-producing plants

To test our hypothesis, whether the production of OHL in planta would enhance plant resistance to E.c. carotovora, we compared the ability of these wild-type bacteria to cause plant disease in both vector-transformed control plants and OHL-producing transgenic plants (IV, Fig. 4). The ability of *E.c. carotovora* wild-type (SCC3193) to cause disease symptoms was reduced to about half in OHL-producing plants as compared with the vector-control plants. The OHL-producing lines were clearly more tolerant to the initiation of infection even after 48h incubation with E.c. carotovora. However, if the infection was established and tissue maceration started, we could not detect significant differences in bacterial growth between transgenic and control plants. Similarly, an increase of the inoculum size by a factor of four or more could overwhelm the enhanced tolerance to E.c. carotovora infection in OHLproducing tobacco. These results suggested that the OHL-production of transgenic plants expressing bacterial expI was enough to modulate the counteracting molecular events of plant-pathogen interaction in favor of the plant. However, this effect could be observed only to certain extent, since an increase in the number of E.c. carotovora cells infecting transgenic tobacco was enough to overwhelm plant resistance. This may reflect the fact that the amount of OHL produced by transgenic plants was not enough to affect bacterial behavior when the number of E.c. carotovora cells increased, e.g. induce premature production of PCWDEs in E.c. carotovora. On the other hand, it may also reflect that a higher number of bacteria is enough to overwhelm an earlier defense response triggered by the transgenic plants.

To test whether the enhanced resistance observed in transgenic tobacco is indeed due to a premature production of PCWDEs in E.c. carotovora, we first characterized the effect of added OHL on enzyme gene expression at low cell densities of bacteria in vitro (IV, Fig. 5). The results showed that the exogenous addition of OHL at low cell densities of E.c. carotovora induces expression of PCWDEs, which otherwise remains downregulated. Similar results had been previously observed by Flego (1994). In order to confirm that the production of OHL was the probable cause of the enhanced resistance observed in transgenic tobacco, we tested whether the exogenous application of OHL affects the infection process of E.c. carotovora wild-type in vector-transformed control plants (IV, Fig. 6 and Table I). The results showed that the wild-type bacteria without exogenous addition of OHL developed maceration symptoms in most of the plants while the addition of OHL clearly reduced the number of plants developing disease. Taken together, these results suggest that the production of OHL by transgenic tobacco may indeed induce a premature induction of PCWDEs by E.c. carotovora at low cell density, which favors plant defense during the early stages of the infection process. In conclusion, the results presented in this study demonstrated that it is possible to produce OHL in plants by ectopic expression of the bacterial OHL synthase gene (expl), and this OHL production in transgenic plants alters the early stages of the plantpathogen interaction favoring the plant defense. These results are in accordance with and support our hypothesis (IV, Fig. 7).

Recently, Fray et al. (1999) reported similar results to ours using a different but related OHL synthase gene (*yenI*). Both of these studies describe a new strategy to improve plant disease resistance by producing bacterial signal molecules *in planta* that affect the coordinated signaling systems of the pathogen population. The same strategy can be extended to other plant-microbe interactions, including enhancement of beneficial interactions. Interestingly, Teplitski et al. (2000) have shown that pea plants naturally producing substances that mimic bacterial OHL affect population-density behaviors in associated

bacteria. Thus, it is conceivable that similar plant engineering strategies, targeting the modulation of microbial signaling systems, may have many applications in agriculture.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The studies presented in this thesis revealed novel data about different aspects of the molecular events occurring during plant-*E.c. carotovora* interactions, and provide new starting points for further research. At the interface of the plant-*E.c. carotovora* interaction, the characterization of individual PCWDEs as elicitors of plant defense highlighted the synergism of pectinases and cellulases eliciting plant defenses. However, the role of other enzymes secreted by *E.c. carotovora* such as proteases as elicitors of plant defense responses remains to be analyzed; especially, to determine whether the action of such proteases counteract the synergism of the pectinases and cellulases as elicitors of plant defense responses. Additional characterization of molecules secreted by *E.c. carotovora* may contribute to the understanding of events occurring at the interface of these plant-pathogen interactions.

The PRKs are integrating components of plant defense responses to *E.c. carotovora*. These PRKs provide a novel starting point for analyzing both plant defense responses and molecular events occurring at the interface of the plant-*E.c. carotovora* interactions. Finding the ligand(s) interacting with PRKs is an important challenge that would significantly help to understand the function of these receptors and would indicate which molecules are important for the plant cell to perceive during the early stages of the potato-*E.c. carotovora* interaction. Furthermore, future studies with PRKs could also provide new insights into the downstream events triggered by the signal perceived by these receptors.

The data provided by the study of DRD-1 suggest that this enzyme may play a role in plant defense signaling. A priori, DRD-1 may be involved in multiple processes occurring during plant defense responses. Further studies characterizing the biological role of DRD-1 may reveal novel connections between different signaling and metabolic pathways. Subcellular localization of the enzyme and analysis of the biological role of the products released by DRD-1 activity would help to understand the role of this enzyme in defense. Furthermore, an analysis of the role that DRD-1 may play in NADP/NADPH homeostasis is also relevant.

The study of PSI indicated a correlation between the downregulation of psaD and PSI, and the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in chloroplasts of cells responding to *E.c. carotovora*. This suggests that the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in chloroplasts may be a consequence of the nuclear control of psaD triggered by PCWDEs. Little data is available about the regulation of molecular events participating in the electronic transport of chloroplasts that lead to ROS accumulation during plant-pathogen interactions. Therefore, future studies analyzing these events and the physiological role of such accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in chloroplasts of cells responding to PCWDEs from *E.c. carotovora* are needed. On the other hand, it is tempting to speculate that a tight regulation of the electron transport activity in chloroplasts is important, if not crucial, for regulating an appropriate physiological response of the cells responding to pathogen attack. Therefore, it may be possible that a signaling pathway between the nucleus and the chloroplast may coordinate such regulation. Thus, future studies exploring these topics would be useful in understanding plant defense responses to pathogens.

The generation and analysis of transgenic plants overproducing homoserine lactone supported the hypothesis stating that the production of OHL *in planta* would enhance plant resistance to *E.c. carotovora*. From such analysis we could infer that higher levels of OHL *in*

planta may enhance the resistance to *E.c. carotovora*. This could be achieved by targeting the *expI* gene to the chloroplast. On the other hand, although we did not observe any differential phenotype between OHL-producing and wild type tobacco, it may be interesting to know whether OHL production affects the physiology of plants; for example tuber formation and growth in potato plants. Nevertheless, the data presented in study V indicate that plant-engineering strategies targeted to modulate microbial signaling systems may be useful for agricultural applications.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There is a complex network of events, people, and institutions, which have in some way contributed to this work. Some of these are clearly related to the research work while others apparently not so, however, have also contributed to it. Thus, I hope I will be able to remember and mention most of these people and institutions that have in one way or another contributed to the work presented in this thesis.

This work has been carried out at the Division of Genetics, Department of Biosciences, University of Helsinki; at the Department of Molecular Biology, Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable, Uruguay, and at the Department of Molecular Genetics, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden. This work was financed by the Academy of Finland, SAREC, EU, and Biocentrum Helsinki.

I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Tapio Palva for giving me the opportunity to work in his laboratory and for offering excellent working facilities. I would also like to thank you for allowing me to freely explore this field and supporting me in such an expedition.

I wish to thank Professor Rodolfo Wettstein for giving me the possibility to continue the research of some data that I have collected at his laboratory in Uruguay.

Professor Teemu Teeri and Professor Martin Romantschuck, thanks for kindly reviewing this thesis.

Professor Pekka Heino and Professor Hannu Saarilahti thank you for your guidance through the faculty and university administration during the final stages of this thesis.

I also want to thank some colleagues outside Finland. To Professor Henrik Vibe Scheller, thanks for your kind cooperation, for teaching me how to deal with PSI, and the beautiful discussions we had. To Alia Dellagi and Gary Lyon, I sincerely thank you for your kind cooperation and the great discussions about plant-*Erwinia* interactions. To the Estonian team: Andres Mäe, Viia Kõiv and Reet Marits, thank you very much for all the time that we were together, it has been a great pleasure to work with you. To the people from the former Tapio's group at the Department of Molecular Genetics, in Uppsala, Sweden, thanks to all of you for the great times we spent together.

I would like to acknowledge Pekka Heino for helping me during my first steps in Finland, and all the support and friendship during these years.

I am truly grateful to all the previous and present members of the plant-*Erwinia* group: Tarja Saloranta, Heidi Hyytiäinen, Jing Li, Günter Brader, Anne Tuikkala, Solveig Hortling, Karen Sims, Tinna Palomäki, Minttu Martilla, Hanne Mikkonen, Jenny Kallio, Maria Karls, Sanna Vähämikko and Eva Tas. We have spent a lot of time together and I would like thank you for your positive attitude, support and help during these years as well as for the great moments outside the lab.

Arja Ikävalko, Arja Välimäki, Pirkko Winter, Anne Aronta and Merja Valtonen, thanks for all your help and technical support during these years.

Harri Lahnaviiki thanks for your great computer assistance.

To all the people from Dennis Bamford's group and Hannu Saarilahti's group, thanks for creating a nice atmosphere at the sixth floor and being always ready to help. Especially, I wish to thank Roman Tuma and Xavier Caldentey for great discussions.

To the fellows from the fourth and fifth floor: Elina Helenius, Tuula Puhakainen, Kristian Aspergen, Ilka Tamminen, Annikki Welling, Nina von Numers, Maria Boije, Markku Aalto, Umamaheswari, Pinja Pulkkinen, Airi Tauriainen, Minna Korhonen, Sari Tähtiharju, Kirk Overmyer, Jakko Kangasjärvi, Riika Pellinen, and Jorma Vahala, thanks to all of you for your kind help whenever I need it.

To the personnel from the EM unit, thank you for guiding me in the fascinating world of electron microscopy.

I would like to thank to the Spanish speaking community at the Biocenter: Judith Thomas-Crussels, Carlos Vicient, Nora García, Claudio Rivera, Leena Karhinen, Xavier Caldentey, Alejandro Pardo, and Mariana Loto. Gracias por tantas lindas charlas, por mantener mi uruspanish vivo y por enseñarme vuestro xxx-spanish. I would like to thank all of you, and to: Monica, AP, Vijay, Elena, Martin, Moshe, Mubashir, Anton, Tristan, Eric and Pierre, for the wonderful lunch and coffee times at Viikki.

My warmest thanks to: Carlos and Nora, Judith, Pierre and Maria, Tristan, Eric and Marqueta, Monica, Eric and Nadia, Vijay, Leena and AP, Eva and Hector, Camilo and Fernanda, Julio, Pablo and Kati, for all your friendship and support during these years.

My best sounding thanks to: Tristan, Dario, Mary, Eduardo, Haka, Olli, Jokke, Janicke, Juha, Dani, Jury, Julio and other friends from the Valkoinen Talo for wonderful jam sessions.

I also wish to thank the people from Colo-Colo fútbol club for the pleasant environment they create.

A Inés y Sabina, gracias por haber emprendido juntos el camino de la biología molecular vegetal. Durante este tiempo he realmente disfrutado el trabajo junto a ustedes. Ojalá alguna vez se vuelva a repetir en algún lugar. A Inés, Sabina, Björn, Carina, Ricardo y Rodolfo gracias por las discuciones acerca de la realidad de la investigación en Uruguay y el desarrollo de la biología molecular vegetal en la región. Inés, gracias por tu continuo respaldo durante todos estos años.

A todos mis amigos en Uruguay y en especial a Ana Moreno, Alejandro Menjoulou y Claudia Piccini, por los momentos compartidos y el apoyo brindado durante estos años.

A mi famila, Fábian, Patricia, Marianella, Sebastián y María Eugenia. Gracias por ser quienes son y por su apoyo incondicional.

A Karin, no hay palabras en el universo universal que puedan expresarte mi agradecimiento.

REFERENCES

- Agrios GN (1997) Plant Pathology, Ed 4. Academic Press, San Diego, CA
- Albrecht A, Heiser I, Baker R, Nemec S, Elstner EF, Osswald W (1998) Effects of the *Fusarium solani* toxin dihydrofusarubin on tobacco leaves and spinach chloroplasts. J. Plant Physiol. 153:462-468
- Alonso JM, Hirayama T, Roman G, Nourizadeh S, Ecker JR (1999) EIN2, a bifunctional transducer of ethylene and stress responses in Arabidopsis. Science 284:2148-2152-
- Alvarez ME, Pennel RI, Meijer P-J, Ishikawa A, Dixon RA, Lamb C (1998) Reactive oxygen intermediates mediate a systemic signal network in the establishment of plant inmunity. Cell 92:773-784
- Andersen B, Koch B, Scheller HV (1992) Structural and functional analysis of the reducing side of photosystem I. Physiol. Plant. 84:154-161
- Apostol I, Heinstein PF, Low PS (1989) Rapid stimulation of an oxidative burst during elicitation of cultured plant cells. Role in defense and signal transduction. Plant Physiol. 90:109-116
- Asada K (1999) The water-water cycle in chloroplast: scavenging of active oxygens and dissipation of excess photons. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 50:601-639
- Asada K, Kiso K, Yoshikawa K (1974) Univalent reduction of molecular oxygen by spinach chloroplasts on illumination. J. Biol. Chem. 249:2175-2181
- Asai T, Tena G, Plotnikova J, Willman MR, Chiu W-L, Gomez-Gomez L, Boller T, Ausubel FM, Sheen J (2002) MAP kinase signalling cascade in *Arabidopsis* innate immunity. Nature 415:977-983
- Asai T, Stone JM, Heard JE, Kovtun Y, Yorgey P, Sheen J, Ausubel FM (2000) Fumonisin B1-induced cell death in Arabidopsis protoplasts requires jasmonate-, ethylene-, and salicylate-dependent signaling pathways. Plant Cell 12:1823-1835
- Austin S, Lojkowska E, Ehlenfeldt MK, Kelman A, Helgeson JP (1998) Fertile interspecific somatic hybrids of Solanum: a novel source of resistance to Erwinia soft rot. Phytopathol. 78:1216-1220
- Babiychuck E, Kushnir S, Belles-Boix E, Van Montagu M, Inzé D (1995) *Arabidopsis thaliana* NADPH oxidoreductase homologs confer tolerance of yeast toward the thiol-oxidizing drug diamide. J Biol Chem 270:26224-26231
- Baker B, Zambryski P, Staskawicz B, Dinesh-Kumar SP (1997) Signaling in plant-microbe interactions. Science 276:726-733
- Barras F, van Gijsegem F, Chatterjee A (1994) Extracellular enzymes and pathogenesis of Soft-Rot Erwinia. Annu.Rev.Phytopathol. 32:201-234
- Basse CW, Fath A, Boller T (1993) High affinity binding of a glycopeptide elicitor to tomato cells and microsomal membranes and displacement by specific glycan suppressors. J. Biol. Chem. 268:14724-14731
- Bassett CL, Nickerson ML, Cohen RA, Rajeevan MS (2000) Alternative transcript initiation and novel posttranscriptional processing of a leucine-rich repeat receptor-like protein kinase gene that responds to short-day photoperiodic floral induction in morning glory (*Ipomea nil*). Plant Mol. Biol. 43:43-58
- Bate NJ and Rothstein SJ (1998) C₆-volatiles derived from the lipoxygenase pathway induce a subset of defense-related genes. Plant J 16:561-569
- Bate NJ, Riley JCM, Thompson JE, Rothstein SJ (1998) Quantitative and qualitative differences in C₆-volatile production from the lipoxygenase pathway in an alcohol dehydrogenase mutant of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Physiol Plantarum 104:97-104

- Becraft PW, StinardPS, McCatry DR (1996) CRINKLY4: A TNRF-like receptor kinse involved in maize epidermal differentiation. Science 273:1406-1409
- Benhamou N (1996) Elicitor-induced plant defence pathways. Trends Plant Sci 1:233-240
- Bent AF (1996) Plant disease resistant genes: function meets structure. Plant Cell 8:1757-1771
- Bishop PD, Pearce G, Bryant JE, Ryan CA (1984) Isolation and characterization of the proteinase inhibitorinducing factor from tomato leaves. Identity and activity of poly- and oligogalacturonide fragments. J. Biol. Chem. 259:13172-13177
- Bleecker AB and Kende H (2000) Ethylene: A gaseous signal molecule in plants. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 16:1-18
- Bonas U and Lahaye T (2002) Plant disease resistance triggered by pathogen-derived molecules: refined models of specific recognition. Curr. Op. Microbiol. 5:44-50
- Bowles D (1998) Signal transduction in the wound response of toamato plants. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. 353:1495-1510
- Bowles D (1991) The wound response of plants. Curr. Biol. 1:...
- Brand U, Fletcher JC, Hobe M, Meyerowitz EM, Simon R (2000) Dependence of stem cell fate in *Arabidopsis* on a feedback loop regulated by *CLV3* activity. Science 289:617-619
- Brill EM, Abrahams S, Hayes CM, Jenkins CLD, Watson JM (1999) Molecular characterization and expression of a wound-induced cDNA encoding a novel cinnamyl-alcohol dehydrogenase in lucerne (*Medicago sativa* L). Plant Molec Biol 41:279-291
- Brown JWS and Simpson CG (1998) Splice site selection in plant pre-mRNA splicing. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 49:77-95
- Cameron RK (2000) Salicylic acid and its role in plant defense responses: what do we really know? Physiol. Molec. Plant Pathol. 56:91-93
- Cao H, Glazebrook J, Clarke JD, Volko S, Dong X (1997) The Arabidopsis *NPR1* gene that controls systemic acquired resistance encodes a novel protein with ankyrin repeats. Cell 88:57-63
- Cao H, Bowling SA, Gordon AS, Dong X (1994) Characterization of an Arabidopsis mutant that is nonresponsive to inducers of systemic acquired resistance. Plant Cell 6:1583-1592
- Castresana C, de Carvalho F, Gheysen G, Habets M. Inzé D, van Montagu M (1990) Tissue-specific and pathogen-induced regulation of a *Nicotiana plumbaginifolia* b-1,3- glucanase gene. Plant Cell 2:1131-1143
- Chang JH, Rathjen JP, Bernal AJ, Staskawicz BJ, Michelmore RW (2000) avrPto enhances growth and necrosis caused by *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* in tomato lines lacking either *Pto* or *Prf*. Molec. Plant-Microbe Interact. 13:568-571
- Chao Q, Rothenberg M, Solano R, Roman G, Tersaghi W, Ecker JR (1997). Activation of the ethylene gas response pathway in Arabidopsis by the nuclear protein ETYLENE-INSENSITIVE3 and related proteins. Cell 89:1133-1144
- Chen Z (2001) A superfamily of proteins with novel cysteine-rich repeats. Plant Physiol. 126:473-476
- Cheong J-J and Hahn MG (1991) A specific, hgh-affinity binding site for the hepta-b-glucoside elicitor exists in soybean membranes. Plant Cell 3:137-147
- Chitnis PR (1996) Update on photosynthetic electron transport: Phtosystem I. Plant Physiol. 111:661-669

- Chitnis PR, Xu Q, Chitnis VP, Nechushtay R (1995) Function and organization of photosystem I polypeptides. Photosynthesis Res. 44:23-40
- Clark AJL, Ishii S, Richert N, Merlino GT, Pastan I (1985) Epidermal growth factor regulates the expression of its own receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:8374-8378
- Cohen Y, Gisi U, Niderman T (1993) Local and systemic protection against *Phytophthora infestans* induced in potato and tomato plants by jasmonic acid and jasmonic methyl ester. Phytopathol. 83:1054-1062
- Collmer A, Keen NT (1986) The role of pectic enzymes in plant pathogenesis. Annu Rev Phytopathol 24:383-409
- Coquoz J-L, Buchala A, Métraux J-P (1998) The biosynthesis of salicylic acid in potato plants. Plant Physiol. 117:1095-1101
- Cosio EG, Frey T, Verduyn R, van Boom J, Ebel J (1990) High-affinity binding of a synthetic heptaglucoside and fungal glucan phytoalexin elicitors to soybean membranes. FEBS Lett. 271:223-226
- Creelman RA and Mullet JE (1997) Biosynthesis and action of jasmonates in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48:355-381
- Creelman RA and Mullet JE (1995) Jasmonic acid distribution and action in plants: Regulation during development and response to biotic and abiotic stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:4114-4119
- Croft KPC, Jüttner F, Slusarenko AJ (1993) Volatile products of the lipoxygenase pathway evolved from *Phaseouls vulgaris* (L.) leaves inoculated with *Pseudomonas syringae* pv *phaseolicola*. Plant Physiol. 101:13-24
- Cui Y, Madi L, Mukherjee A, Dumenio C, Chatterjee AK (1996). The RsmA⁻ mutants of *Erwinia carotovora subsp. carotovora* strain Ecc71 overexpress hrpN_{Ecc} and elicit a hypersensitive reaction-like response in tobacco leaves. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 9:565-573
- Czernic P, Visser B, Sun W, Savoure A, Deslandes L, Marco Y, van Montagu M, Verbruggen N (1999) Characterization of an *Arabidopsis thaliana* receptor-like protein kinase gene activated by oxidative stress and pathogen attack. Plan J. 18:321-327
- Dangl JL and Jones JDG (2001) Plant Pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. Nature 411:826-833
- Dangl JL, Dietrich RA Richberg MH (1996) Death don't have no mercy: cell death programs in plant-microbe interactions. Plant Cell 8:793-807
- Darvill A, Augur C, Bergmann C, et al., (1992) Oligosaccharines-oligosaccharides that regulate growth, develpoment and defence responses in plants. Glycobiology 2:181-198
- Darvill AG and Albersheim P (1984) Phytoalexins and their elicitors-a defense against microbial infection in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 35:243-275
- Deeper JM, Leonard WJ, Drogula C, Krönke M, Waldmann TA (1985) Interleukin 2 (IL-2) augments transcription of the IL-2 receptor gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:4230-4234
- Deikman J (1997) Molecular mechanisms of ethylene regulation of gene expression. Physiol. Plant. 100:561-566
- Delaney TP, Uknes S, Vernooij B, et al., (1994) A central role of salicylic acid in plant resistnace. Science 266:1247-1250
- Dempsey DA, Shah J, Klessig DF (1999) Salicylic acid and disease resistance in plants. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 18:547-575

- Diatchenko L, Lau Y-FC, Campbell AP, Chenchick A, Moqadam F, Huang B, Lukyanov S, Lukyanov K, Gurskaya N, Sverdlov ED, Siebert PD (1996) Suppression subtractive hybridization: a method for generating differentially regulated or tissue-specific cDNA probes and libraries. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:6025-6030
- Dixon RA and Paiva NL (1995) Stress-induced phenylpropanoid metabolism. Plant Cell 7:1085-1097
- Dixon RA, Harrison MJ, Lamb CJ (1994) Early events in the activation of plant defense responses. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 32:479-501
- Doares SH, Syrovets T, Weiler EW, Ryan CA (1995a) Oligogalacturonides and chitosam activate plant defensive genes through the octadecanoid pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:4095-4098
- Doares SH, Narváez-Vásquez J, Conconi A, Ryan CA (1995b) Salicylic acid inhibits synthesis of proteinase inhibitors in tomato leaves induced by systemin and jasmonic acid. Plant Physiol. 108:1741-1746
- Dow M, Newman M-A, von Roepenack E (2000) The induction and modulation of plant defense responses by bacterial lipopolysaccharides. Annu. Rev. Phytopatol. 38:241-261
- Durrant WE, Rowland O, Piedras P, Hammond-Kosack KE, Johnes JD (2000) cDNA-AFLP reveals a striking overlap in race-specific resistnace and wound response gene expression profiles. Plant Cell 12:963-977
- Düring K, Porsch P, Fladung M, Lörz H (1993) Transgenic potato plants resistant to the phytopathogenic bacterium *Erwinia carotovora*. Plant J. 3:587-598
- Ebel J (1998) Oligoglucoside elicitor-mediated activation of plant defense. BioEssays 20:569-576
- Ebel J and Cosio EG (1994) Elicitors of plant defense responses. Int. Rev. Cytol. 148:1-36
- Ellis J, Dodds P, Pryor T (2000) Structure, function and evolution of plant disease resistance genes. Curr. Op. Plant Biol. 3:278-284
- Emanuelsson O, Nielsen H, Brunak S, von Heijne G (2000) Predicting subcellular localization of proteins based on their N-terminal amino acid sequence. J. Mol. Biol. 300:1005-1016
- Enyedi AJ, Yalpani N, Silverman P, Raskin I (1992) Signal molecules in systemic plant resistance to pathogens and pests. Cell 70:879-886
- Farmer EE and Ryan CA (1992) Octadecanoid precursors of jasmonic acid activate the synthesis of wound inducible proteinase inhibitors. Plant Cell 4:129-134
- Farmer EE, Johnson RR, Ryan CA (1992) Regulation of expression of proteinase inhibitor genes by methyl jasmonate and jasmonic acid. Plant Physiol. 98:995-1002
- Feuillet C, Schachermayr G, Keller B (1997) Molecular cloning of a new receptor-like kinase gene encoded at the *Lr10* disease resitance locus of wheat. Plant J. 11:45-52
- Feys BJ and Parker JE (2000) Interplay of signaling pathways in plant disease resistance. TIG 16:449-455
- Flego D (1994) Virulence in *Erwinina carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*: gene regulation and bacterial cooperation. PhD. Diss. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden
- Flor HH (1971) Current status of the gene-for-gene concept. Annu. Rev. Phytopatol. 9:275-296
- Foyer CH, Lelandais M, Kunert KJ (1994) Photoxidative stress in plants. Physiol. Plant. 92:696-717
- Fray RG, Throup JP, Daykin M, Wallace A, Williams P, Stewart GS, Grierson D (1999) Plants genetically modified to produce N-acyl-homoserine lactones communicate with bacteria. Nature Biotechnol. 17:1017-1020

- Gaffney T, Friedrich L, Vernooij B, et al (1993) Requirement of salicylic acid for the induction of systemic acquired resistance. Science 261:754-756
- Galán JE and Collmer A (1999) Type III secretion machines: bacterial devices for protein delivery into host cells. Science 284:1322-1328
- Genoud T and Métraux J-P (1999) Crosstalk in plant cell signaling: structure and function of the genetic network. Trends Plant Sci. 4:503-507
- Gillham DJ and Dodge AD (1987) Studies into the action of the diphenyl ether herbicides acifluorfen and oxyfluorfen. Part II: the interaction with photosynthetic electron transport reactions. Pestic. Sci. 19:25-34
- Gomez-Gomez L, and Boller T (2000) An LRR- receptor-like kinase involved in the perception of bacterial elicitor flagellin in Arabidopsis. Mol. Cell 5:1003-1011
- Grant JJ and Loake GJ (2000) Role of reactive oxygen intermediates and cognate redox signaling in disease resistance. Plant Physiol. 124:21-29
- Greenberg JT (1997) Programed cell death in plant-pathogen interactions. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48:525-545
- Greenberg JT, Ailan G, Klessig DF, Ausubel FM (1994) Programmed cell death in plants: A pathogentriggered response activated coordinately with multiple defense functions. Cell 77:551-563
- Grignon C (1999) Recent advances on proteins of plant terminal membranes. Biochimie 81:577-596
- Hahlbrock K and Scheel D (1989) Physiology and molecular biology of phenylpropanoid metabolism. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 40:347-369
- Hahn MG (1996) Microbial elicitors and their receptors in plants. Annu. Rev. Phytopatol. 34:387-412
- Hammerschmidt R (1999) Phytoalexins: what have we learned after 60 years? Annu Rev Phytopathol 37:285-306
- Hammond-Kosack KE and Jones JDG (1996) Resistance gene-dependent plant defense responses. Plant Cell 8:1773-1791
- Hanks SK and Quinn AM (1991) Protein kinase catalytic domain sequence data base: identification of conserved features of primary structure and classification of family members. Methods Enzymol. 200:38-62.
- Hanks SK, Quinn AM, Hunter T (1988) The protein kinase family: conserved features and deduced phylogeny of the catalytic domain. Science 241:42-52.
- Hatanaka A (1993) The biogeneration of green odour by green leaves. Phytochem. 34:1201-1218
- Hatanaka A, Kajiwara T, Sekiya J (1987) Biosynthesis pathway for C6-aldehydes formation from linolenic acid in green leaves. Chem Phys Lipids 44:341-361
- He SY (1998) Type III protein secretion systems in plant and animal pathogenic bacteria. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 36:363-392
- He Z-H, Cheeseman I, He D, Kohorn BD (1999) A cluster of five cell wall-associated receptor kinases, Wak1-5, are expressed in specific organs of Arabidopsis. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 39:1189-1999
- von Heijne G (1990) The signal peptide. J. Membr. Biol. 115:195-201
- Heikinheimo R, Flego D, Prihonen M, Karlsson M-B, Mäe A, Kõiv V, Palva ET (1995) Characterization of a novel pectate lyase from *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 8:207-217

- Hervé C, Dabos P, Galaud J-P, Rouge P, Lescure B (1996) Characterization of an *Arabidopsis thaliana* gene that defines a new class of putative plant receptor kinases with an extracellular lectin-like domain. J. Mol. Biol. 258:778-788
- Hildebrand DF, Brown GC, Jackson DM, Hamilton-Kemp TR (1993) Effects of some leaf-emitted volatile compounds on aphid population increase- J. Chem. Ecol. 19:1875-1887
- Hirai R and Fujita T (1996) A human transforming growth factor-β type II receptor that contains an insertion in the extracellular domain. Exp. Cell Res. 223:135-141
- Hooker WJ (1981) Compendium of potato diseases. The American Phytopathological Society, USA
- Ito Y, Kaku H, Shibuya S (1997) Identification of a high-affinity binding protein for *N*-acetylchitooligosacharide elicitor in the plasma membrane of suspension-cultured rice cells by affinity labeling. Plant J. 12:347-356
- Johnson PR and Ecker JR (1998) The ethylene gas signal transduction pathway: A molecular perspective. Annu. Rev. Genet. 32:227-254
- Jörnvall H, Persson B, Jeffery J (1987) Characteristics of alcohol/polyol dehydrogenases. Eur J Biochem 167:195-201
- Keen NT (1990) Gene-for-gene complementary in plant-pathogen interaction. Annu. Rev. Genet. 24:447-463
- Keller H, Hohfeld H, Wray V, Hahlbrock K, Scheel D, Strack D (1996) Changes in the accumulation of soluble and cell wall-bound phenolics in elicitor-treated cell suspension cultures and fungus-infected leaves of *Solanum tuberosum*. Phytochemistry 42:389-396
- Kende H (1993) Ethylene biosynthesis. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Molec. Biol. 44:283-307
- Kieber JJ, Rothenberg M, Roman G, Feldman KA, Ecker JR (1993) *CTR1*, a negative regulator of the ethylene response pathway in Arabidopsis, encodes a member of the Raf family of protein kinases. Cell 72:427-441
- Kiedrowski S, Kawalleck P, Hahlbrock K, Somssich IE, Dangl JL (1992) Rapid activation of a novel plant defense gene is strictly dependent on the Arabidopsis *RPM1* disease resistance locus. EMBO J 11:4677-4684
- Kim YS, Lee JH, Yoon GM, Cho HS, Park S-W, Suh MC, Choi D, Ha HJ, Liu JR, Pai H-S (2000) CHRK1, a chitinase-related receptor-like kinase in tobacco. Plant Physiol. 123:905-915
- Kjemtrup S, Nimchuk Z, Dangl JL (2000) Effector proteins of phytopathogenic bacteria: bifunctional signals in virulence and host recognition. Curr. Op. Microbiol. 3: 73-78
- Knaff DB and Hirasawa M (1991) Ferredoxin-dependent chloroplast enzymes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1056:93-125
- Kobe B and Deisenhofer J (1994) The leucine-reach repeat: A versatile binding motif. Trends Biochem. Scie. 19:415-421
- Kohorn BD, Lane S, Smith, TA (1992) An Arabidopsis serine/trheonine kinase homologue with an epidermal growth factor repeat selected in yeast for its specificity for a thylakoid membrane protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:10989-10992.
- Kombrink E and Schmelzer E (2001) The hypersensitive response and its role in local and systemic disease resistance. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 107:69-78
- Kotoujansky A (1987) Molecular genetics of pathogenesis by soft-rot Erwinias. Annu Rev Phytopathol 25:405-430.

- Kuć J (2001) Concepts and direction of induced systemic resistance in plants and its application. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 107:7-12
- Kuć J (1995) Phytoalexins, stress metabolism and disease resistance in plants. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 33:275-297
- Kuć J (1982) Induced immunity to plant disease. BioScience 32:854-860
- Lagoutte B, Hanley J, Bottin H (2001) Multiple functions for the C terminus of PsaD subunit in the cyanobacterial photosystem I complex. Plant Physiol. 126:307-316
- Lamb C and Dixon RA (1997) The oxidative burst in plant disease resistance. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48:251-275
- Lange, J., Xie, Z.-P., Broughton, W. J., Vögeli-Lange, R., and Boller, T. (1999) A gene encoding a receptorlike protein kinase in the roots of common bean is differentially regulated in response to pathogens, symbionts and nodulation factors. *Plant Sci.* 142, 133-145.
- Laugué R and De Wit PJGM (1998) Fungal avirulence genes: structure and possible functions. Fungal Genet. Biol. 24:285-297
- Lauter FR (1996) Root-specific expression of the LeRse-1 gene in tomato is induced by exposure of the shoot to light. Mol Gen Genet 252:751-754
- Lee H-I, León J, Raskin I (1995) Biosynthesis and metaboilsm of salicylic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:4076-4079
- León J, Rojo E, Sánchez-Serrano JJ (2001) Wound signaling in plants. J. Exp. Bot. 52:1-9
- Levine A, Tenhaken R, Dixon R, Lamb C (1994). H₂O₂ from the oxidative burst orquestrates the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. Cell 79:583-593
- Lewis NG and Yamamoto E (1990) Lignin: occurrence, biogenesis, and degradation. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 41:455-469
- Li L, Cheng XF, Leshkevich J, Umezawa T, Harding SA, Chiang VL (2001) The last step of syringyl monolignol biosynthesis in angiosperms is regulated by a novel gene encoding synapil alcohol dehydrogenase. Plant Cell 13:1567-1585
- Li N, Zhao J, Warren PV, Warden JT, Bryant DA, Golbeck JH (1991) PsaD is required for stable binding of psaC to the photosystem I core protein of Synechococcus sp. PCC 6301. Biochemistry 30:7863-7872
- Liang P, Averboukh L, Pardee AB (1993) Distibution and cloning of eukarytic mRNA by means of Differential Display: refinements and optimization. Nucleic Acids Res 21:3269-3275
- Liang P and Pardee AB (1992) Differential display of eukarytic messenger RNA by means of the polymerase chain reaction. Science 257:967-971
- Linthorst HJM (1991) Pathogenesis related proteins of plants. Crit Rev Plant Sci 10:123-150
- Logemann E, Reinold S, Somssich IE, Hahlbrock K (1997) A novel type of pathogen defense-related cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. Biol Chem 378:909-913
- van Loon LC and van Strien EA (1999) The families of pathogenesis-related proteins, their activities, and comparative analysis of PR-1 type proteins. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 55:85-97
- van Loon LC, Bakker PAHM, Pieterse MJ (1998) Systemic resistance induced by rhizosphere bacteria. Annu. Rev. Phytopatol. 36:453-483

- van Loon LC, Pierpoint WS, Boller T, Conejero V (1994) Recommendations for naming plant pathogenesisrelated proteins. Plant Mol. Biol. Rep. 12:245-264
- Low PS and Merida JR (1996) the oxidative burst in plant defense: function and signal transduction. Physiol. Plant. 96:533-542
- Mäe A, Heikinheimo R, Palva ET (1995) Structure and regulation of the *Erwinia carotovora* subspecies *carotovora* SCC3193 cellulase gene *celV* and the role of cellulase in pathogenicity. Mol. Gen. Genet. 247:17-26
- Malamy J and Klessig DF (1992) Salicylic acid and plant disease resistance. Plant J 2:643-654
- Malamy J, Carr JP, Klessig DF, Raskin I (1990) Salicylic acid: a likely endogenous signal in the resistance response of tobacco to tobacco mosaic virus. Science 250:1002-1004
- Mauch F, Mauch-Mani B, Boller T (1988) Antifungal hydrolases in pea tissue. II. Inhibition of fungal growth by combinations of chitinase and beta-1,3-glucanase. Plant Physiol. 88:936-942
- Mauch-Mani B and Métraux J-P (1998) Salicylic acid and systemic acquired resistance to pathogen attack. Annals Bot. 82:535-540
- Mauch-Mani B and Slusarenko AJ (1996) Production of salicylic acid precursors is a major function phenylalaline ammonia-lyase in the resistance of Arabidopsis to *Peronospora parasitica*. Plant Cell 8:203-212
- McDonald NQ and Hendrickson WA (1993) A structural superfamily of growth factors containing a cystine knot motif. *Cell* 73:421-424
- Mehdy MC (1994) Active oxigen species in plant defense against pathogens. Plant Physiol. 105:467-472
- Merati G and Zanetti G (1987) Chemical cross-linking of ferredoxin to spinach thylakoids. FEBS Lett. 215:37-40
- Mestre P, Brigneti G, Baulcombe D (2000) An Ry-mediated resistance response in potato requires the intact active site of the Nla proteinase from potato virus Y. Plant J. 23:653-661
- Métraux J-P, Signer H, Ryals J, Ward E, Wyss-Benz M, Gaudin J, Raschdorf K, Schmid E, Blum W, Inverardi B (1990) Increase in salicylic acid at the onset of systemic acquired resistance in cucumber. Science 250:1004-1006
- Mithöfer A, Fliegmann J, Neuhaus-Uri G, Schwarz H, Ebel J (2000) The hepta-b-glucoside elicitor-binding proteins from legumes represent a putative receptor family. Biol. Chem. 381:705-713
- Miyake C and Asada K (1994) Ferredoxin-dependent photoreduction of monodehydroascorbate radical in spinach thylakoids. Plant Cell Physiol. 34:539-549
- Mölders W, Buchala A, Métraux J-P (1996) Transport of salicylic acid in tobacco necrosis virus-infected cucumber plants. Plant Physiol. 112:787-792
- Mueller MJ (1997) Enzymes involved in jasmonic acid biosynthesis. Physiol. Plantarum 100:653-663
- Mukherjee A, Cui Y, Liu Y, Chatterjee AK (1997) Molecular characterization and expression of the Erwinia carotovora hrpN gene, which encodes an elicitor of the hypersensitive reaction. Molec. Plant-Microbe Interact. 10:462-471
- Naver H, Scott MP, Andersen B, Moller BL, Scheller HV (1995) Reconstitution of barley photosystmen I reveals N-terminus of the PSI-D subunit is essential for tight binding of PSI-C. Physiol. Plant. 95:19-26
- Nimchuk Z, Rohmer L, Chang JH Dangl JL (2001) Knowing the dancer from the dance: *R*-gene products and their interactions with other proteins from host and pathogen. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 4:288-294

- Nimchuk Z, Marois E, Kjemtrup S, Leister RT, Katagiri F, Dangl JL (2000) Eukaryotic fatty Acylation drives plasma memabrane targeting and enhances function of several type III effector proteins from *Pseudomonas* syringae. Cell 101:353-363
- Norman C, Vidal S, Palva ET (1999) Oligogalacturonide-mediated induction of a gene involved in jasmonic acid synthesis in response to cell-wall-degrading enzymes of the plant pathogen *Erwinia carotovora*. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 12:640-644
- Norman-Setterblad C, Vidal S, Palva ET (2000) Interacting signal pathways control defense gene expression in Arabidopsis in response to cell wall-degrading enzymes from *Erwinia carotovora*. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 13:430-438
- Nürnberger T, Nennstiel D, Jabs T, Sacks WR, Hahlbrock K, Scheel D (1994) High affinity binding of a fungal oligopeptide elicitor to parsley plasma membranes triggers multiple defense responses. Cell 78:449-460
- O'Donnell PJ, Calvert C, Atzorn R, Wasternack C, Leyser HMO, Bowles DJ (1996) Ethylene as a signal mediating the wound response of tomato plants. Science 274:1914-1917
- Ohme-Takagi M and Shinshi H (1995) Ethylene-inducible DNA binding proteins that interact with an ethyleneresponsive element. Plant Cell 7:173-182
- Oostendorp M, Kunz W, Dietrich B, Staub T (2001) Induced resistance in plants by chemicals. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 107:19-28
- Pallas JA, Paiva NL, Lamb C, Dixon RA (1996) Tobacco plants epigenetically suppressed in phenylalanine ammonia-lyase expression do not develop systemic acquired resistance in response to infection by tobacco mosaic virus. Plant J. 10:281-293
- Palva TK, Hurtig M, Saindrenan P, Palva ET (1994) Salicylic acid induced resistance against *Erwinia* carotovora subsp. carotovora in tobacco. Molec. Plant-Microbe Interact. 7:356-363
- Palva TK, Holmström K-O, Heino P, Palva ET (1993) Induction of plant defense response by exoenzymes of *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*. Molec. Plant-Microbe Interact. 6:190-196
- Pandini V, Aliverti A, Zanetti G (1999) Interaction of the soluble recombinant PsaD subunit of spinach photosystem I with ferredoxin I. Biochemistry 38:10707-10713
- Pastuglia M, Roby D, Dumas C, Cock M (1997) Rapid induction by wounding and bacterial infection of a *S* gene family receptor-like kinase gene in *Brassica oleracea*. *Plant Cell* 9:49-60
- Pellinen R, Palva ET, Kangasjärvi J (1999) Subcellular localization of ozone-induced hydrogen peroxide production in birch (*Betula pendula*) leaf cells. Plant J. 20:349-356
- Penninckx IAMA, Thomma BPHJ, Buchala A, Métraux J-P, Manners JM, Broekaert WF (1998) Concomitant activation of jasmonate and ethylene response pathways is required for induction of a plant defensin gene in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 10:2103-2113
- Penninckx IAMA, Eggermont K, Terras FRG, Thomma BPHJ, De Samblanx GW, Buchala A, Métraux J-P, Manners JM, Broekaert WF (1996) Pathogen-induced systemic activation of a plant defensin gene in Arabidopsis follows a salicylic acid-independent pathway. Plant Cell 8:2309-2323
- Pérombelon MCM and Salmond GPC (1995) Bacterial soft rots. In Pathogenesis and host specificity in plant diseases. Ed. Singh US, Singh RP, Kohmoto K. Pergamon, Oxford. Vol.1 pp 1-20
- Pérombelon MCM and Kelman A (1980) Ecology of the soft rot Erwinias. Annu Rev Phytopathol 18:361-387
- Pierson III LS, Wood DW, Pierson LA (1998) Homoserine lactone-mediated gene regulation in plant associated bacteria. Annu. Rev. Phytopatol. 36:207-225

- Pieterse CMJ and van Loon LC (1999) Salicylic acid-independent plant defense pathways. Trends Plant Sci. 4:52-58
- Pieterse CMJ, van Wees SCM, van Pelt JA, Knoester M, Laan R, Gerrits H, Weisbeek PJ, van Loon LC (1998) A novel signaling pathway controlling induced systemic resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 10:1571-1580
- Pieterse CMJ, van Wees SCM, Hoffland E, van Pelt JA, van Loon LC (1996) Sytemic resistance in Arabidopsis induced by biocontrol bacteria is independent of salicylic acid accumulation and pathogenesis-related gene expression. Plant Cell 8:1225-1237
- Pirhonen M, Flego D, Heikinheimo R, Palva ET (1993) A small diffusible signal molecule is responsible for the global control of virulence and exoenzyme production in the plant pathogen *Erwinia carotovora*. EMBO J. 12:2467-2476.
- Pirhonen M, Saarilahti H, Karlsson M-B, Palva ET (1991) Identification of pathogenicity determinants of *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora* by transposon mutagenesis. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 4:276-283.
- Polle A (1997) Defense against photoxidative damage in plants. In Oxidative stress and the molecular biology of antioxidant defenses. Ed. By Scandalios JG, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press pp 623-666
- Rantakari A, Virtaharju O, Vähämiko S, Taira S, Palva ET, Saarilahti HT, Romantschuck M (2001) Type III secretion contributes to the pathogenesis of the soft-rot pathogen *Erwinia carotovora*: partial characterization of the *hrp* gene cluster. Molec. Plant-Microbe Interact. 14:962-968
- Reinbothe S, Mollenhauer B, Reinbothe C (1994) JIPs and RIPs: the regulation of plant gene expression by jasmonates in response to environmental cues and pathogens. Plant Cell 6:1197-1209
- Ryan CA and Pearce G (1998) Systemin: A polypeptide signal for plant defensive genes. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 14:1-17
- Saarilahti HT, Pirhonen M, Karlsson M-B, Flego D, Palva ET (1992) Expression of *pehA-bla* gene fusions in *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora* and isolation of regulatory mutants affecting polygalacturonase production. Mol. Gen. Genet. 234:81-88
- Saarilahti HT, Heino P, Pakkanen R, Kalkkinen N, Palva I, Palva ET (1990a) Structural analysis of the pehA gene and characterization of its protein product, endopolygalacturonase, of *Erwinia carotovora* subspecies *carotovora*. Mol. Microbiol. 4:1037-1044
- Saarilahti HT, Henrissat B, Palva ET (1990b) CelS: a novel endoglucanase identified from *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*. Gene 90:9-14
- Salmond GPC, Bycroft BW, Stewart GSAB, Williams P (1995) The bacterial enigma: cracking the code of cell-cell communication. Mol. Microbiol. 16:615-624
- Satterlee JS and Sussman MR (1998) Unusual membrane-associated protein kinases in higher plants. J. Membr. Biol. 164:205-213
- Scheller HV, Jensen PE, Haldrup A, Lunde C, Knoetzel J (2001) Role of subunits in eukarytic photosystem I. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1507:41-60
- Scheller HV, Naver H, Moller BL (1997) Molecular aspects of photosystem I. Physiol. Plant. 100:842-851
- Schopfer C, Nasrallah M, Nasrallah J (1999) The male determinant of self-incompatibility in *Brassica*. Science 286:1697-1700
- Schweizer P, Buchala A, Métraux J-P (1997) Gene-expression patterns and levels of jasmonic acid in rice treated with the resistance inducer 2,6-dichloroisonicotinic acid. Plant Physiol. 115:61-70
- Sembdner G and Parthier B (1993) The biochemistry and the physiological and molecular actions of jasmonates. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 44:569-589

- Schaller F (2001) Enzymes of the biosynthesis of octadecanoid-derived signalling molecules. J. Exp. Bot. 52:11-23
- Shan L, Thara VK, Martin GB, Zhou J-M, Tang X (2000) The Pseudomonas AvrPto protein is differentially recognized by tomato and tobacco and is localized to the plant plasma membrane. Plant Cell 12:2323-2337
- Shiu S-H and Bleecker AB (2001) Plant receptor-like kinase gene family: diversity, function, and signaling. Sci STKE 113:RE22
- Shulaev V, SilvermanP, Raskin I (1997) Airborne signaling by methyl salicylate in plant pathogen resistance. Nature 385:718-721
- Shulaev V, León J, Raskin I (1995) Is salicylic acid a translocated signal of systemic acquired resistance in tobacco? Plant Cell 7:1691-1701
- Silverman P, Seskar M, Kanter D, Schweizer P, Métraux J-P Raskin I (1995) Saicylic acid in rice. Plant Physiol. 108:633-639
- Smith CJ (1996) Accumulation of phytoalexins: defence mechanism and stimulus response system. New Phytol 132:1-45
- Solano R, Stepanova A, Chao QM, Ecker JR (1998) Nuclear events in ethylene signaling: a -transduction cascade mediated by ETHYLENE-INSENSITIVE3 and ETHYLENE-RESPONSE-FACTOR1. Genes Devel. 12:3703-3714
- Song W-Y, Wang G-L, Chen L-L, Kim H-S, Pi L-Y, Holsten T, Gardner J, Wang B, Zhai W-X, Zhu L-H, Fauquet C, Ronald P (1995) A receptor kinase-like protein encoded by the rice disease resistance gene, *Xa21*. Science 270:1804-1806
- Staskawicz BJ, Ausubel FM, Baker BJ, Ellis JG, Jones JDG (1995) Molecular genetics of plant disease resistance. Science 268:661-667
- Stein JC, Howlett B, Boyes DC, Nasrallah ME, Nasrallah JB (1991) Molecular cloning of a putative receptor protein kinase gene encoded at the self-incomatibility locus of *Brassica oleracea*. Proc. Nati. Acad.Sci. USA 88:8816-8820
- Summers LA (1980) The bipyridinium herbices. Academic Press Inc. London, pp 316-343
- Sun H-W and Plapp BV (1992) Progressive sequence alignment and molecular evolution of the Zn-containing alcohol dehydrogenase family J Mol Evol 34:522-535
- Sun PD and Davies DR (1995) The cystine-knot growth-factor superfamily. Annu. Rev. Biomol. Struct. 24:269-291
- Suzuki, A., Shioda, N., Maeda, T., Tada, M., Ueno, N. (1994) Cloning of an isoform of mouse TGF-β type II receptor gene. *FEBS Lett.* 355, 19-22.
- Takken FLW and Joosten MHAJ (2000) Plant resistant genes: their structure, function and evolution. Eur. J. Plant. Pathol. 106:699-703
- Taylor S, Views of the Famine, (http://vassun.vassar.edu/~sttaylor/FAMINE/).
- Teplitski M, Robinson JB, Bauer WD (2000) Plants secrete substances that mimic bacterial *N*-acyl homoserine lactone signal activities and affect population density-dependent behaviors in associated bacteria. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 13:637-648
- The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative, Analisis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant Arabidopsis thaliana. (2000) Nature 408:796-815

- Thomma BPHJ, Eggermont K, Penninckx IAMA, Mauch-Mani B, Vogelsang R, Cammue BPA, Broekaert WF (1998) Separate jasmonate-dependent and salicylate-dependent defense-response pathways in *Arabidopsis* are essential for resistance to distinct microbial pathogens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:15107-15111
- Trotochaud ET, Jeong S, Clark SE (2000) CLAVATA3, a multimeric ligand for the CLAVATA1 receptorkinase. Science 289:613-617
- Turlings TCJ, loughrin JH, McCall PJR, Röse USR, Lewis WJ, Tumlinson JH (1995) How caterpillar-damaged plants protect themselves by attracting parasitic wasps. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:4169-4174
- Umemoto N, Kakitani M, Iwamatsu A, Yoshikawa M, Yamaoka N, Ishida I (1997) The structure and function of a soybean beta glucan elicitor binding protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94:1029-1034
- Vancanneyt G, Sanz C, Farmaki T, Paneque M, Ortego F, Castañera P, Sanchez-Serrano JJ (2001) Hydroperoxide lyase depletion in transgenic potato plants leads to an increase in aphid performance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98:8139-8144
- Vernooij B, Friedrich L, Morse A, Reist R, Kolditz-Jawhar R, Ward E, Uknes S, Kessmann H, Ryals J (1994) Salicylic acid is not the translocated signal responsible for inducing systemic acquired resistance but is required in signal transduction. Plant Cell 6:959-965
- Vidal S, Ponce de León I, Denecke J, Palva ET (1997) Salicylic acid and the plant pathogen *Erwinia* carotovora induce defense genes via antagonistic pathways. Plant J. 11:115-123
- Vijayan P, Shockey J, Lévesque CA, Cook RJ, Browse J (1998) A role for jasmonate in pathogen defense of *Arabidopsis*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:7209-7214
- Walker JC (1994) Structure and function of the receptor-like protein kinase of higher plants. Plant Mol. Biol. 26:1599-1609
- Wang X, Zafian P, Choudhary M, Lawton M (1996) The PR5K receptor protein kinase from Arabidopsis thaliana is structurally related to a family of plant defense proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:2598-2602
- Wang Z-Y, Seto H, Fujioka S, Yoshida S, Chory J (2001) BRI1 is a critical component of a plasma-membrane receptor for plant steroids. Nature 410:380-383
- Ward ER, Uknes SJ, Williams SC, Dincher SS, Wiederhold DL, Alexander DC, Ahl-Goy P, Métraux JP, Ryals JA (1991) Coordinated gene activity in response to agents that induce systemic acquired resistance. Plant Cell 3:1085-1094
- Wasternack C and Parthier B (1997) Jasmonate-signal plant gene expression. Trends Plant Sci. 2:302-307
- Wegener C, Bartling S, Olsen O, Weber J, von Wettstein D. (1996) Pectate Lyase in transgenic potatoes confers pre-activation of defense against *Erwinia carotovora*. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 49:359-376
- White FF, Yang B, Johnson LB (2000) Prospects for understanding avirulence gene function. Curr. Op. Plant Biol. 3:291-298
- White RF (1979) Acetyl salicylic acid (aspirin) induces resistance to tobacco mosaic virus in tobacco. Virology 99:410-412
- Whitehead NA, Barnard AML, Slater H, Simpson NJL, Salmond GPC (2001) Quorum-sensing in Gramnegative bacteria. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 25:365-404
- Wildermuth MC, Dewdney J, Wu G, Ausubel FM (2001) Ischorismate synthase is required to synthesize salicylic acid for plant defence. Nature 414:562-565
- Wildom DC, Thain JF, Michin PEH, Gubb I, Reilly A, Skipper Y, Doherty H, O'Donnel P, Bowles DJ (1992) Electrical signaling and systemic proteinase inhibitor induction in the wounded plant. Nature 360:62-65

- Williams PH (1980) Black rot: a continuing threat to world crucifers. Plant Dis. 64-736-742
- Williamson JD, Stoop JMH, Massel MO, Conkling MA, Pharr DM (1995). Sequence analysis of a mannitol dehydogenase cDNA from plants reveals a function for the pathogenesis-related protein ELI3. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:7148-7152
- Wojstaszek P (1997) Oxidative burst: an early plant response to pathogen infection. Biochem J 322:681-692
- Wu G, Short BJ, Lawrence EB, Levine EB, Fitzsimmons KC, Shah DM (1995) Disease resistance conferred by expression of a gene encoding H₂O₂-generating glucose oxidase in transgenic potato plants. Plant Cell 7:1357-1368
- Xu Q, Jung YS, Chitnis VP, Guikema JA, Joelbeck JH, Chitnis PR (1994) Mutational analysis of photosystem I polypeptides in *Synecchocystis* sp. PCC 6803. Subunit requirements for the reduction of NADP⁺ mediated by ferredoxin and flavodoxin. Biol. Chem. 269:21512-21518
- Xu Y, Chang P-F L, Liu D, Narasimhan ML, Raghothama KG, Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA (1994) Plant defense genes are synergistically induced by ethylene and methyl jasmonate. plant Cell 6:1077-1085
- Yalpani N, Silverman P, Wilson TMA, Kleier DA, Raskin I (1991) Salicylic acid is a systemic signal and an inducer of pathogenesis-related proteins in virus-infected tobacco. Plant Cell 3:809-818
- Zarembinski TI and Theologis A (1994) Ethylene bisynthesis and action: a case of conservation. Plant Mol. Biol. 26:1579-1597
- Zeringue HJ (1992) Effects of C6-C10 alkenals and alkanals on eliciting a defense response in the developing cotton boll. Phytochemistry, 31:2305-2308
- Zhang Y et al. (1999) Interaction of NPR1 with basic leucine zipper protein transcription factors that bind sequences required for salicylic acid induction of PR-1 gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:6523-6528
- Zilber AL and Malkin R (1988) Ferredoxin cross-links to a 22 kD subunit of photosystem I. Plant Physiol. 88:810-814